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About 
this report
This new publication of the Report of Banco Regional, 
number 25, is focused on our management teams, who are 
leading on the several lines of products we offer to clients to 
help them make their dreams come true. 

The testimonies are included throughout the sections and 
appear next to the information of this edition. 

The preparation of each fragment has a synthesis of the most 
outstanding aspects of each management area of the Bank, 
which are presented with a simple language. 

A couple of years ago, we started this gradual transformation 
in the style of our Report, as part of the evolution of the Bank, 
which pretends to be ever more accessible and to showcase 
the global results of the organization, which includes its 
contribution to the development of the company. 

We still have the commitment to keep on improving 
the communication with our stakeholders from these 
accountability tools and others, which make us more 
transparent and reliable.
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MESSAGE 
FROM THE PRESIDENT

Dear Shareholders, 

2016 has been a period in which our Bank has proven once again significant 
strength and commitment to accompany the evolution of productive sectors, 
mainly, the agricultural and agro-industrial sectors, maintaining the vocation to 
support productive sectors as promoted by our founders 25 years ago. 

The agricultural sector has shown a notable resilience  in 2015 and 2016 to 
the negative impact of international markets, responding with an increasing 
productivity which has positively driven the Agricultural Gross Domestic Product 
by 6.5% and 2.5%, respectively. And this reaction was not different in 2010 and 
2013, after draughts affected the sector in the immediately preceding years. 

Last year, since late April, a trend of gradual recovery of prices of the main 
agricultural items started to consolidate, mainly with respect to soybean, and a 
better outlook for rice emerged from the last quarter. 

This strength in the agricultural sector has been possible with a significant 
investment from many farmers in advanced technologies, for which our Bank 
has played a fundamental role, providing financial support for investment 
projects in the sector and keeping its position as the main bank in the country 
for agribusiness. This support was not only offered in periods of price surging, 
but also to overcome the issues with their fall in the aforementioned period. 

In this scenario, our Bank has achieved an increase of net income by 11.62%, 
which equals a Return on Capital of 21.24%. 

This profitability has been possible even with a strengthening in our equity and 
financial indicators: our solvency level reached 17.3% in Tier II; Non performing 
ratio was 2.18%, even lower than the average in the banking system; we 
improved the efficiency ratio at 46.31% and we executed an active management 
of assets received in payment of debts and credits with long periods of 
delinquency.

This evolution in the management of our Bank has been recognized by 
international risk rating agencies, which monitor our results maintaining the 
ratings received even after the fall of the agricultural prices, suggesting the 
strength of our management. Moreover,   even more positive was the fact that 
we received an upgrade in the credit rating granted by Standard and Poor’s, 
one of the most important international agencies, raising our rating to BB, 
recognizing the improvement of the profitability and the strength in the quality of 
the credit portfolio. 

The outlook for 2017 is promising. Soybean harvesting indicates a productivity that may be historic, positively 
driving the Agricultural GDP with the subsequent beneficial impact on the rest of the economy. This increase 
of income may also drive domestic consumption which, with the dynamism expected from public works, may 
generate a moderate recovery of the credit portfolio of the banking system that reflected a growth of only 0.04% in 
2016. 

In addition to these positive domestic factors, a gradual recovery of the regional export markets can be seen, with 
an albeit slowly growing demand from Argentina and Brazil, as their economies reduce their inestability, and 
provided that their most encouraging economic performance announced by their governments occur. 

In this context, in 2017 the Board and Management Team will continue to be focused  on looking after the quality 
of our credit portfolio, maintaining an adequate capitalization and strengthening the administrative and financial 
management to continuously improve our efficiency ratio and bolster the profitability of our Bank. 

In 2017, we will update our business strategy with a vision for the next five years, to identify new business models 
and new value propositions for our corporate and consumer banking clients with the objective of announcing, 
towards the last quarter of the year, our vision for the 2018-2023 period, and with that we will plan the needed 
infrastructure for its implementation accordingly. 

Even with our business strategy, we will continue with our strong support to the corporate sector of our economy, 
and we intedn to promote the funding of SMEs as the demand for funding from that sector recovers, offering 
financial instruments for their operating and investment expenses, along with an advanced technological platform 
that facilitates transactions of corporations and individuals. 

The achievement of performing a quarter of a century with continuous progress, driving our growth during 
economic surge periods, but also strengthening us in difficult years for our country, has only been possible with the 
permanent support of our shareholders, to whom we offer profound recognition for their vision and commitment 
to support our Bank, which we can proudly refer to as the main financial institution for agribusiness and one of the 
most important banks for the national economy. 

On behalf of the Board, I also want to  offer our recognition,  to the Management Team and to all of our Institution’s 
personnel who have supported with their efforts  the pursuit of our Bank’s objectives of growth and strengthening 
in 2016, and we encourage them to keep developing our institutional vision: to be the best bank for our clients, 
shareholders and staffers, and to be the most important bank for the productive development of our country. 

Cordially, 

 
Raúl Vera Bogado

Executive President of the Board
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This situation, which translated into an unsatisfied 
need for the entrepreneurs of the region, made 
a group of local businessmen meet to face the 
challenges that the creation of a Bank with its 
headquarters operating outside of the capital of the 
country would represent. 

The start required a lot of effort, as the functioning of 
the Bank also required a series of connected services 
that the city of Encarnación did not have. 

Time passed and Banco Regional kept expanding 
beyond the limits of the Department that saw its  
creation. Today, it even has several branches in 
Asunción, the Metropolitan Area and other cities in the 
countryside. Its founders did not just create a financial 
institution, but they also fostered the establishment of 
other companies, the training of qualified staff and the 
creation of competitive jobs. 

BANCO REGIONAL IS THE 

COMBINATION OF TWO INTERESTS 

THAT MARK ITS HISTORY: THE FIRST 

OF THEM IS FACILITATING ACCESS 

TO CREDIT FOR PRODUCERS OF THE 

DEPARTMENT OF ITAPÚA AND THE 

SECOND IS TO HAVE A COMPETITIVE 

FINANCIAL INSTITUTION IN THE 

DEPARTMENT, CLOSE TO ITS PEOPLE 

AND THEIR REALITIES TO BE ABLE 

TO UNDERSTAND THE NEEDS IN 

TERMS OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 

THAT THE PROJECTS OF THE 

AGRICULTURAL SECTOR REQUIRE. 

NAME OF THE COMPANY

Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A

ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY

Carlos Antonio López N° 1348 
entre Arq. Tomás Romero Pereira 
y 14 de Mayo, Encarnación 
(Department of Itapúa)

692
COLLABORATORS

102.693
CLIENTS

37
BRANCHES

1.1Us
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To permanently innovate to be the Bank of successful 
and leading people of the development of the country. 

To be committed to the success of our clients.

 Integrity
 Professionalism
 Positive Attitude

Mission

Vision

INSTITUTIONAL STATEMENTS

Values
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Correspondent Banks: 
 Multibank, Panama
 Rabobank, the Netherlands
 Commerzbank, Germany
 Bank of China, China
 Societe Generale, France
 SMBC, Japan
 Bank of America, USA
 Wells Fargo, USA
 Citibank, USA

Multilateral Cooperation Organizations: 
 IFC, International Finance Corporation
 ICC, Inter-American Investment Corporation
 USAID: Agency for International Development

SINCE 1991 UNTIL THE PRESENT, WE 
ARE WRITING OUR HISTORY, WITH 
INSTITUTIONS THAT HELP US LEAVE A 
PERMANENT LEGACY FOR THE CITY THAT 
SAW US BE CREATED (ENCARNACIÓN), 
FOR THE COUNTRY IN WHICH WE 
OPERATE AND FOR OUR CLIENTS, WHO 
TRUST US WITH THEIR DREAMS AND 
CHALLENGES. 

The evolution of Banco Regional is 
characterized by the dynamism and 
innovation as characteristics of their business 
management. This is why currentlybesides 
having Rabobank from the Netherlands as 
shareholder (38.47%) and after acquiring 
ABN AMRO Paraguay (100%), it continuously 
executes other agreements that may help it 
expand its business to achieve its vision of being 
committed to the success of its clients. 

The following list of Correspondent Banks 
and Multilateral Organizations, with whom we 
maintain strategic alliances, makes it possible 
to make part of this commitment be real: 

 OPIC, Overseas Private Investment Corporation
 Responsability Investments AG
 BNDES, Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Economico 

e Social – BNDES 
 DEG, Deutsche Investitions und 

Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH
 BIO
 OFID, Fund for International Development
 CAF, Development Bank of Latin America
 PROPACO, Groupe Agence Francaise de 

Developpement
 FMO, Nederlandse Financierings- Maatschappij 
 Bladex - Foreign Trade Bank of Latin America

 

OUR EVOLUTION

BONDS ISSUED IN THE INTERNATIONAL MARKET

In addition to local issues of bonds, in a historic event for the private banking 
system in Paraguay, Banco Regional issued bonds in the international market 
for 300 million dollars in 2014 with a tenor of 5 years. It is important to remark 
the performance of this issue in the international markets, which is currently 
priced at 106.8%. The appreciation of investors of the risk of Banco Regional 
SAECA Paraguay is therefore proven.

  Multilateral Cooperation Organizations
  Correspondent Banks
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446 men
1% more than in 2015

90% of total senior positions are held by them

Although the staff is mostly comprised by men, we are 
gradually increasing the number of women, as well 
as their seniority. Our recruitment only takes attention 
to aptness without any special preference on gender. 
Nonetheless, although this difference was developed 
along time we are focused on obtaining some balance.
 
It must also be mentioned that this year, we had 46 
interns from high schools and 17 from universities, who 
were gaining experience on the Headquarters and the 
branches in several cities. In both cases, interns receive 
a stipend that sufficiently covers their transportation 
and meals. 

The training of the staff of Banco Regional is a 
continuous goal since, just as we intend to innovate 
with products and services for current and future 
clients, we understand that the success of the 
business is related to the development of each of the 
people who integrate the company. 

In this regard, our team ended the year with 692 
collaborators. We share some relevant data below: 

246 women
5% more than in 2015

10% of total senior positions are held by them. 

PROFILE

Our team1.2

Requests for training from management areas are 
consolidated at the Human Resources area into a 
single document, which is subjected to approval, and 
the base budget is set with the possibility to include 
other courses, in accordance with the needs to be 
detected throughout the year. In 2016, 154 
in-person training were carried out, both internally 
and externally, distributed among the members of the 
areas, for a total of 1,400 hours and an investment of 
PYG 1,770,971,458. 

Summary of Training Events

Type of activity Number of 
participants

Training of ITGF Modules, 
Improvements in the Schedule and 
Segmentation of the Client

290

Training of Legal Entities 260
Training on Regional Web for 
Companies

213

Training of Risks of the Consumer 
Banking

165

Kroll Training on compliance 48
Training on Compliance 46
Training for Roundtable 
Facilitators – “The Transformation 
is in Me” 66
Leadership Academy “We are All 
Leaders” 30

This year, training reached 97% of staff in average, 
15% of which correspond to Account Officers, 3% to 
the Managerial Staff and 82% to other positions. It is 
important to highlight the technical support of Great 
Place to Work, with whom we defined the issues to 
be improved next year, which are already part of the 
Training Plan for 2017. 

DEVELOPMENT OF SKILLS

WE BELIEVE
 IN LEARNING

Alicia Quevedo, Manager of the 
Asuncion Center Branch.

I continuously receive the support of the Bank, 
not only to study and train, but it also gives 
me the possibility to contribute with my ideas 
and knowledge, allowing me to be the leader 
of new projects and processes to improve the 
organization. 
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WE BELIEVE
IN LEARNING

Paola Torales, Manager of the 
San Lorenzo Branch.

We believe in learning, in getting better, in 
giving the best of us, proving in this way the 
commitment with the success of our clients. Our 
institution is characterized by the commitment 
and accompaniment to clients and collaborators 
in their learning process and achieving their 
dreams, therefore contributing for a 
better Paraguay

PROMOTION 
OF SPECIALIZATION

All collaborators of the Bank with 2 years 
in the company may access the benefit of 
postgraduate scholarships, either to study a 
Master’s course or postgraduate courses in 
specific areas related to banking activities. 

In addition to the local universities, we 
have signed agreements with Wageningen 
University from the Netherlands, UBA from 
Argentina and Getulio Vargas from Brazil, 
among others. 

50% of the cost and 0 funding-rate for all 
collaborators

Defined local and foreign universities 
(UNA, UCA, Americana, UPA and from 
abroad)

Minimum required grade in ED: 3.5

Execution of the agreement

RABOBANK 
TALENT PROGRAM

Rabobank Development offers its associated 
banks in South America, Africa and Asia the 
opportunity of professional and personal 
development for collaborators who show a profile 
with high potential through its Talent Program 
(Partenerbank Talent Programme). This training 
is carried out in its main headquarters (city 
of Utrecht, the Netherlands), for a term of 3 
months. 

The Talent Program comprises an intensive 
training in which participants obtain knowledge 

about the strategic challenges in the management of 
the Bank. They are also benefitted with the cultural 
interchange, the development of competencies in 
leadership and a more integral vision of the Banking 
Business.
 
To promote this program, we opened up a space in 
our intranet and  actively encourage collaborators to 
apply. The selection procedure is carried out by the 
Management Committee. 
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UPPER 
MANAGEMENT
100% In-Person

MIDDLE MANAGEMENT
80% Online – 20% In-Person

CONTACT STAFF
100% Online – Train the trainers

PERSONAL LEADERSHIP & ORGANIZATIONAL COACHING

SERVICES QUALITY & CUSTOMER HOSPITALITY

LOGISTICS, LAYOUT & OPERATING PROCESSES

TEAM WORK & PERFORMANCE REVIEW

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (Optional)

COMMERCIAL COACHING

The commercial team is a staff segment of our in which continuous training is encouraged. 
Following this policy, the “Tools for Planning and Commercial Follow-up” program was 
developed this year, with the following objectives: 

This year, the training was carried out in two phases:

First group: Managers from 16 Branches, 2 Regional 
Managers and Private Banking Manager  from Asuncion 
(Downtown), Fernando de la Mora, Villa Morra, Mariano 
Roque Alonso, Bulnes, San Martín, Mcal. López, PAB 
Asunción, Eusebio Ayala, Villarrica, Cnel. Oviedo, Pedro 
Juan Caballero, Katuete, Curuguaty, Sta. Rosa del 
Aguaray, Nueva Esperanza and San Alberto. 

LEADERSHIP ACADEMY FOR
MIDDLE MANAGEMENT

Middle management positions are those that require 
more support and training on leadership but it is not 
easy for these managers to leave their daily duties to 
get training. The Academy seeks to strengthen this need 
under the “We are all leaders” slogan. The objective of 
this training is to provide information, management tools, 
good practices examples and updated reading material to 
participants, so they can obtain new knowledge, develop 
new skills and put them into practice. 

The training has a dual teaching mode, with 20 hours 
of online tutoring and 4 attendance hours per module 
in l workshop where the new skills and knowledge 
must be applied. It covers the following modules: High 
performance work team; Effective presentations, public 
speaking, storytelling and motivation: the key for a 
better performance. 

Individual and group follow-upPlanning effectivelyGenerating commitmentMotivation

Second group: Managers from 17 Branches and 2 
Regional Managers  from Encarnación, Bella Vista, 
Obligado, Cnel. Bogado, Ma. Auxiliadora, Superseis, 
San Cristóbal, Santa Rita, CE-Area 1, CDE Center, 
Hernandarias, La Paz, Fram, Pirapo, Naranjal, Sta. Rosa 
del Monday, Campo 9 and PAB Hernandarias. 

WORK ENVIRONMENT 

We understand that a good work environment is a 
critical factor to achieve a harmonic performance of 
each of the Bank’s duties and to accomplish  the team 
work necessary to obtain the seeked results  . This is 
why, under the coordination of Compass (a consulting 
firm from Argentina), the Managerial staff attended the 
“Cultural Environment and Transformation” program, 
with the following objectives: 

STRENGTHENING THE LEVEL OF TRUST 

(CREDIBILITY, RESPECT AND IMPARTIALITY) OF 

THE BANK’S COLLABORATORS . 

CONSOLIDATING THE COLLABORATORS 

IDENTITY WITH THE BANK THROUGH PRIDE AND 

COOPERATION. 

INSTALLING A CULTURE THAT ALLOWS 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MISSION, VISION AND 

OBJECTIVES OF THE BANK IN A SUSTAINABLE 

MANNER. 

In 2017, a Strategic Seminar with all the managers 
that participated in the program will take place as an 
evaluation and closure of the program. 

TRANSFORMATION PARAGUAY BY 
JOHN MAXWELL

With the goal of strengthening our values and betting on 
personal and professional growth, as part of the 2016 
training and development plan, we are participating 
in the implementation of the “The transformation 
is in me” program, developed by the organization 

“Transformación Paraguay”, a social initiative led by the 
leadership expert John Maxwell and its “John Maxwell 
Leadership Foundation”. 

This program uses the method named “Roundtables 
for transformation”, focused on strengthening 
values, aligning them to our thoughts, actions, habits 
and commitments. They are spaces for personal 
development through the reading and reflection 
on different values where participants self-assess 
themselves, are enriched with the experiences of each 
other and are committed to perform specific actions for 
transformation. 

Branches were selected to start with the 
implementation of the “The transformation is in 
me” program. However, the aforementioned method 
provides the possibility to train facilitating leaders who, 
once the training modules have concluded (16 weeks) 
may choose to start their own roundtables to keep 
sharing these places with more people. 

The success of this initiative comes from the 
commitment and action of each participant, as each of 
them forges their own transformation, making the best 
for their own growth and development, accompanying 
the transformation of our institution and the country. 

Summary of the Implementation of the Roundtable 
Methodology

Number of Facilitators 47
Number of Participants of Roundtables 221
Number of Roundtables Formed 45

Roundtables Concluded 13

For 2017, the conclusion of pending roundtables is 
expected, as well as the continuity of the project with 
new roundtables
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COMMUNICATE TO IMPROVE

One of the most used tools of internal communication in the Bank is our intranet, as it 
is available for all of the collaborators in all offices. For that reason, this year we worked 
to improve our Intranet Portal, to encourage its use and to keep it updated. Likewise, all 
weekly releases migrated there. 

In this same medium, new spaces were opened within the section of Training, making 
important information available for collaborators. 

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

EIn the pursuit of our continuous improvement, this year, 
the tool of Performance Review Workflow was migrated to 
the Human Talen Management system. The benefits of the 
system are as follows:

 CURRENT – HUMAN TALENT MANAGEMENT

1. It allows for massive uploads. 
2. Self-assessment, 180°, 360°, trial period. 
3. Variety of reports, including graphics. 
4. It takes all of the information from the database. 
5. It allows the copy of forms. 
6. Parameter-based automatic notification. 
7. Module within the Human Resources 
management system. 
8. It allows on-line monitoring. 
9. It allows the creation of other types of 
surveys (environment, surveys, knowledge 
tests, etc.)

SAFETY AND PREVENTION

Considering the importance of these subjects, 
e-leaning training was implemented with the 
following issues:

 General rules of Physical Safety.
 Prevention and procedures in the event of robbery, 

assaults and stealing. 
 Procedures for evacuation.
 Procedure in the event of bomb threats.
 Procedure in the event of traffic, road accidents. 
 Evacuation drills and use of extinguishers.
 First aid. 
 Bank leaks.

TABLE OF SAFETY MANAGEMENT

Type of event 2014 2015 2016

Accidents in the facilities of the Bank 
(slips, faints, others)

1 case (attention at 
health center)

6 cases (taken to health 
centers)

4 cases (taken to 
health centers)

Accidents in vehicles, working hours 0 cases 0 cases 0 cases

Accidents in public places, working 
hours

0 cases 0 cases 0 cases

Attempt to rob an ATM 3 cases (explosives) 1 case (skimming) 1 case (skimming), 
person detained by 
National Police

Bank leaks 0 cases 2 cases (capture 
of people involved, 
collaboration with 
National Police – 
Economic Crime Unit)

5 registered cases

Number of Evacuation drills 32 drills 6 drills 6 drills

Hours of Training in related issues 
(first aid, use of extinguishers, hostage 
situation, robbery attempt, etc.) 

12 Branches visited – 
2 hours each

E-learning training E-learning training

All new collaborators also received basic 
information on these subjects on their induction. 

On the other hand, it must be pointed out that an 
automatic external defibrillator was acquired for 
the Headquarters and several collaborators were 
trained on its use. In addition, changes in terms of 
safety measures of premises are being carried out 
according to regulations in force. Finally, it is worth mentioning that upon the end of the year, the approval of an Internal Communication Plan for 

2017 was approved and it will be devised with the consulting firm BW.

Weekly Releases Site
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The business 
MAIN DATA WHAT DO WE OFFER?

WE ENDED 2016 WITH 102,693 CLIENTS, 95% 
OF WHICH ARE INDIVIDUALS AND 5% ARE 
LEGAL PERSONS. THEY USE THE PRODUCTS 
AND SERVICES OF THE BANK AVAILABLE 
TO THEM THROUGH OUR 37 BRANCHES, 
ESTABLISHED IN 6 DEPARTMENTS. IN 
ADDITION, THEY CAN ACCESS THEIR 
ACCOUNTS OR PERFORM TRANSACTIONS 
ELECTRONICALLY, THROUGH THE 24-HOUR 
CHANNELS, EVERY DAY OF THE YEAR.

As for the profile of Individual Clients, the notable 
age range is the one of 20-40 years old; most of 
the volume of this portfolio is concentrated in the 
Departments of Central (52%), Alto Paraná (19%) 
and Itapúa (16%). 

As for Legal Persons, the widest segment is 
comprised by SMEs from the agricultural and 
livestock segment, which proves that the focus of 
the business is still responding to the objective of 
its founders and the needs of the sector for which 
it was created. All this, with continuous innovation 
in products and services for new segments and 
extending their market participation. 

The frequent and close contact with our clients in 
a coordinated manner with the Account Executives 
allows us to identify their needs and even opens up 
opportunities of development of new products that 
satisfy them. 

On this regard, we present the additional products to 
the traditional ones of the financial sector that were 
active in 2016: 

PRODUCTS

 Credit cards
We provide the international credit cards Visa and 
MasterCard, which can be used around the world, 
in affiliated businesses or ATMs with safety and 
comfort, receiving also exclusive advantages and 
benefits. We also provide our Productive Card for 
local use in specific items and services. Another 
innovative proposal for our Corporate Clients are the 
prepaid cards for domestic use. 

 Prepaid cards
Gourmet Card: This card is oriented to facilitating 
companies the payment of monthly allowances 
assigned to staff as a benefit for refreshments or 
meals. 

Móvil Card:  This product consists on the advanced 
allocation  of  travel expenses, facilitating its 
availability in a secure way and avoiding companies 
the procedures of the managing  money in cash. 
In addition, it favors the control and good use of 
resources. 
  

1.3 FOREIGN TRADE

The novelty of 2016 in this segment is the expansion 
of existing Foreign Trade products (letters of credit, 
collections, guarantees and stand-by). We launched to 
the market the Advance Payments to Importers and 
Exporters up to a maximum term of 270 days, with 
preferential rates. Through this service, the client may 
organize its flows of payments and access preferential 
prices with suppliers,  as they can pay their purchases 
at sight. 

The implementation of this commercial offering makes 
us unique in the local market. 

To get an effective result, the Foreign Trade team is 
constantly training, according to the market demands. 
This year, team members participated in the following 
training activities: 

a) IFC Seminar in Santa Cruz, Bolivia

b) Citibank Seminar in Tampa, USA

c) CLACE/Latin American Congress on Foreign Trade in 
Miami, USA

d) MasterClass in Incoterms and LCs, with certification 
in Asunción, by the International Chamber of 
Commerce, allowing the specialization on an issue that 
is ever more demanding in the importer and exporter 
market. 

e) IDB Certification in Trade in Asunción.

f) Comext Course in our Universidad Regional: along 
with the Human Resources area, we launched a course 
on Foreign Trade in  Universidad Regional platform 
to reach the entire commercial staff (assistants and 
account executives), introducing them to the basic 
concepts and services of Foreign Trade offered by the 
Bank to our clients. 

 Loans
Banco Regional clients have short and long-term 
credit lines to finance their working capital needs or to 
accompany their agricultural, livestock, commercial, 
industrial, services and SMEs endeavors.

As it is good to keep growing, the Bank bets on people 
who lead the development of the country and offers 
clients credits for Higher Education to to undertake 
doctorates, postgraduate, master programs, local or 
international, where the client can choose the financing 
plan that better suits their convenience.. Personal 
loans are also offered for clients to quickly and easily 
fund consumption goods and services such as vehicles, 
travels, furniture, personal projects up to 48 months and 
at special rates. 

 Savings and Checking Accounts
En el 2016, entre otros proyectos, hemos trabajado 
en la In 2016, among other projects, we have worked 
on the implementation of the Cuenta Plus project. It 
consists on a checking account, at sight or, deferred , in 
guaranies with certain benefits and special exceptions 
for the account holder. It allows to channel a greater 
flow of the businesses sales with credit and debit cards, 
directing them to their account in our bank.

The clients with this account may also manage and 
control their account movements, comfortably from the 
many online channels availabel. 

On the other hand, we continue to promote the 
traditional forms of savings, with attractive interest 
rates for demand and fixed-term accounts, whose 
resources can be used through debit cards, and online 
transactions, as well as Checking Accounts that can 
also be used in the same way. 

 Regional Junior
It is a Sight Savings Account, exclusively for children 
and teenagers (up to 17 years), opened with an adult 
(Parent/Tutor) as holder, allowing the promotion of a 
savings culture and the good use of resources. Opening 
it requires minimum conditions. 
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WE BELIEVE
IN PROJECTING 
YOUR IDEAS

Augusto Rodríguez, Manager of the Nueva 
Esperanza Branch

At the Bank we are fully involved in the projects 
that our clients undertake, helping to achieve 
them, providing the necessary dynamism and a 
personalized service according to each idea.

To project a better and promising future, it is 
essential to strengthen ties, to count on the guidance 
of professionals from each sector and to work as 
a team to achieve constant growth, as well as to 
maintain continuous improvement processes in 

terms of management and attention to social 
and environmental issues

INSURANCE

Our Insurance Broker ended the year with important 
commercial agreements with the following companies: 
 

REGIONAL DE SEGUROS S.A. 

MAPFRE PARAGUAY S.A.

SANCOR SEGUROS S.A.

THE TYPES OF INSURANCE
WE OFFER ARE:

Life and Personal Accidents:  Natural or disease-
caused death, Double compensation in the event of 
death by accidents, total and permanent incapacitation, 
24-hour coverage, and amounts and plans in 
accordance with the clients’ needs. 

Home Policy:  Building and content fire; Robbery and/
or Assault; Material damages due to thunderstorms; 
Water damage; Cristal coverage; Third-Party Liability; 
and Personal Accidents. 

Cars/Trucks/Agricultural Machinery: Third-party 
liability; Injuries or death of the driver or passengers; 
Partial or total damage due to accident or fire; Robbery 
of the vehicle; Green or Blue Card; and Tow and light 
mechanical service. 

Commercial Multi-risk Insurance:  Building and 
content fire; Robbery of merchandise; Robbery of 

valuables from Safety Box; Robbery of valuables in 
transit; Personal Accidents and Third-Party liability.

Agricultural: Hail; Excess rain; Water logging at time of 
harvesting; Draught; High temperatures; strong winds; 
Freezing; Fire; and Basic coverage. Insurable Crops 
(soybean, corn);

Hail + Reseeding (20%): 
 Hail: It covers crops from traumatic damages caused 

by hails. 

 Reseeding: It provides compensation (20%) when 
there is a loss caused to a covered risk, produced in 
the stage from the emergence of the crops to the start 
of the full coverage. The payment of the compensation 
for reseeding does not affect the protected crop for the 
remaining insured amount. 

Additional coverages: 
 Fire: Damages caused to the crop or its adjacencies. 

 Wind: Due to wind exceeding 60 km/h, with or without 
rain. It covers the insured crop up to the amount insured 
covered against hail. 

 Freezing: Damages caused to crop as a consequence 
of temperatures equal or lower to the point of water 
freezing. It covers the same amount insured against 
hail. 

 Draught:  It covers the crop that, due to the lack of 
rains, suffers performance loss, during the period 
insured. 

Insurable crops:  Soybean, Corn, Canola, Sunflower, 
Sorghum, Wheat and Rice. 
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WE BELIEVE
IN SHARING 
YOUR EXPERIENCES

Interview to Mustafa Yambay Interview to Bruno Wasmosy
Participant of the Global Farmers Master Class Oceania (Australia and New Zealand) Participant of the Global Farmers Master Class Oceania (Australia and New Zealand)
President of the Technical Commission of the Bradford Association and member of the 
Directive Commission of the Paraguayan Association of Sheep Farmers; director of livestock 
companies which are clients of the Bank (Espinillo S.A. and Agropecuaria San Ramón S.A.) 

Vice-President of the Nelore Breeders Association ; President of Aires del Chaco S.A. and 
shareholder of other livestock companies. 

I am impressed by how the bank works in perfect symbiosis with the people who work in the 
field, to the point that, if the field does well, the bank does well, and vice versa. 

I am always going to be grateful with Banco Regional for the opportunity it gave me to 
participate at the Global Farmers Master Class. The support I received was full and thanks 
to that, I was able to represent our country in this important summit, which was also a great 
responsibility and a personal challenge. I saw, I felt and I shared results of investments and 
innovations in livestock, agriculture, dairy production and all of the areas we got to share. 

It gave me one of the best experiences of my life

Upon the invitation of Banco Regional, I went to personally experience how RABOBANK 
from the Netherlands thinks, works and moves. I am pleasantly surprised by their 
management of relationships with clients, the business and the ultimate goal, which are fully 
aligned globally. 

I learned a lot, both in terms of work and as a person; I was able to verify that, when the 
private and public sector meet, it is possible to achieve a lot more; and if we add technology 
and teamwork, the impact is even better. 

I returned with the assurance that nothing is impossible and with the motivation to 
contribute to the growth and improvement of our country. We are going to achieve this 
working together

BANCO REGIONAL, IN THE PURSUIT OF KEEPING ON BETTING ON THE 

PROGRESS OF THE COUNTRY, HAS INVITED LEADERS FROM THE LOCAL 

LIVESTOCK SECTOR TO PARTICIPATE ON THE GLOBAL FARMERS MASTER 

CLASS, AN INTERNATIONAL EVENT DEVELOPED BY RABOBANK. THIS 

PROGRAM SEEKS THE INTERCHANGE OF EXPERIENCES BETWEEN 

PARTICIPANTS AS WELL AS THE KNOWLEDGE OF BEST PRACTICES.
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HOW DO WE DO IT?

TREASURY AND INVESTMENTS

Data automation
We achieved the automation of the transfer of 
information between ITGF system (Financial 
Management IT, for its Spanish initials) of Banco 
Regional and the DATATEC system for reports of 
operations to DOMA (Department of Open Market 
Operations ) of the Central Bank of Paraguay (BCP, 
for its Spanish initials). 

Banco Regional was the first local institution in 
developing and implementing an application to 
achieve this result, and the implementation resulted 
in a quicker and effective service to the clients, as 
time and resources were optimized in the Department 
of Treasury. 

Improvements in the Regional Web Service
Improvements were made to the data entry platform 
for preloading operations requested by clients, by 
developing the local currency calculation of the values 
operated on foreign exchange operations.

In this way, the operator has the possibility of verifying 
with the client the amount in local currency (PYG) 
to be paid or received at the moment of completion 
of an operation. This development made it possible 
to grant greater accuracy, avoiding possible errors 
when entering the local currency values (PYG) in the 
operations forms that clients should submit to the 
Bank, which they can request through Regional WEB 
with the option of transfer between currencies. 

TRANSACTIONAL BANKING

The department of Transactional Banking is part 
of the Corporate Banking segment and it has the 
purpose of providing services mainly oriented to 
companies, to offer solutions that satisfy their needs 
of transactional services. The following services are 
highlighted from those currently available: 

 Regional Payroll:  It covers the salary and wages 
payment needs of the company. The collaborators 
of our clients that receive their salaries through our 
services have access to special benefits. 

 Payments to Suppliers: It allows clients to transfer 
to the Bank their process of payments. The service 
is made by debiting from the clients account the 
amounts corresponding to the invoices for the 
provision of goods and the provision of services.

 Armoured Transportation  services: It provides 
the service of transportation of valuables in an 
alliance with one of the most prestigious armoured 
transportation companies in the country. The service 
enables our clients the management of deposits and 
withdrawals of large amounts, protecting them from 
operating risks. 

 Direct Debit: The service is available for clients 
that wish to transfer their collection management 
to the Bank. It consists of a system through which 
the Bank deposits in the account of the client, the 
contracting company, the amounts of the installments 
or collection of payments of its clients.

 Custody and management of checks: It is aimed 
at companies that make their sales on credit and 
manage a large volume of forward dated checks, 
drawn on local banks.

 Payments to Merchants: Available for clients who 
have a POS in their businesses to process sales 
with credit or debit cards, choosing to channel such 
transactions to their accounts with our Bank. 

 Petrobras Flota:  Through an agreement with 
Petrobras, our clients can buy fuel and lubricants for 
their vehicles, providing information that allows them 
to have a more efficient logistic management. 

PRIVATE BANKING

Our management model, which revolves around 
clients, allows us to be architects to help them obtain 
the best results with their patrimony and to offer 
them the investment solutions that best adapt to their 
profile. 

Clients of this segment have an exclusive office which 
make their business experience more secure in a 
private space and with the advice of a highly prepared 
team. 

OPERATIONS

SIPAP (Payment System of Paraguay, for its Spanish initials)
As regulator and supervisor of the financial system, the Central Bank of Paraguay (BCP) 
has started a process of modernization of the Payment System, based on a technological 
upgrade and the establishment of a network of communications between the BCP and the 
financial institutions, in an environment of high security and reliability. 

In this context, it is important to highlight the management of the interdisciplinary technical 
team of Banco Regional, which accompanied the 3 years of the launch of the first stage of 
the project up to this date. 

Volumes of operations processed in Banco 
Regional through SIPAP: 

Transfers Issued

Transfers sent via WEB, 2016
Quantity
Low value 3.013
High value 128.612
Amounts
Dollars 1.249.467.298
Guaranies, low value 14.878.087.596
Guaranies, high value 6.870.735.140.476

Number of transfers issued via Web

  98% High value
  2% Low value 

8.000.000.000.000

7.000.000.000.000

6.000.000.000.000

5.000.000.000.000

4.000.000.000.000

3.000.000.000.000

2.000.000.000.000

1.000.000.000.000

Dollars Guaranies, low value Guaranies, high value

Transfers issued via Web, amounts
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Transfers sent via requests in branch

Quantity
Low value 17.560
High value 13.218
Amounts
Dollars 711.128.014,43
Euros 219.144.42
Guaranies, low value 400.699.524.839
Guaranies, high value 6.668.978.770.681

Number of transfers issued via Web

  43% High value
  57% Low value

Transfers issued via requests in branches

8.000.000.000.000

7.000.000.000.000

6.000.000.000.000

5.000.000.000.000

4.000.000.000.000

3.000.000.000.000

2.000.000.000.000

1.000.000.000.000

0
Dollars Euros Guaraníes, low value Guaraníes, high value

Transfers received

Transfers received, 2016

Quantity
Low value 6.845
High value 135.144
Amounts
Guaranies, low value 221.922.901.828
Guaranies, high value 12.223.617.192.970
Dollars 2.329.980.215,73
Euros 263.949,08

Number of transfers issued via Web

  95% High value
  5% Low value

14.000.000.000.000

12.000.000.000.000

10.000.000.000.000

8.000.000.000.000

6.000.000.000.000

4.000.000.000.000

2.000.000.000.000

Dollars Euros Guaranies, low value Guaranies, high value

Transfers received, amounts

TRUNCATION OF CHECKS IN THE PARAGUAYAN FINANCIAL SYSTEM: THE BCP HAS 
BEGUN A PROCESS OF MODERNIZATION OF THE PAYMENT SYSTEM BASED ON A 
TECHNOLOGICAL UPGRADE AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A COMMUNICATION 
NETWORK BETWEEN THE BCP AND THE FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS IN AN 
ENVIRONMENT OF HIGH SECURITY AND RELIABILITY. 

BANCO REGIONAL SUPPORTS THE PROJECT OF TRUNCATION OF CHECKS DRIVEN BY 
THE CENTRAL BANK FROM THE OUTSET, INVOLVED WITH SEVERAL PARTICIPANTS 
OF THE PROJECT (BCP, BANCARD, BANKS, AGZ, PROVIDERS) INVOLVING SEVERAL 
RESOURCES OF THE BANK OF DIFFERENT AREAS (OPERATIONS, TECHNOLOGY, 
SECURITY, LEGAL, MARKETING) WITHIN THE MULTIDISCIPLINARY TEAMS, ACTIVELY 
SUPPORTING BANCARD IN THE MANAGEMENT AND ACTIONS OF THE PROJECT.
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Operations in Euros

Operations in US Dollars

Operations in Guaranies

Participation of Banco Regional in SIPAP
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY – IT

Regional “Web”
The website of the Bank is one of the fullest internet 
platforms in the market. By accessing on www.
regional.com.py, clients have the option of making 
multiple and different operations and consults, 
covering the transactional needs that they might 
have as individuals and for the management of their 
companies, with the highest standards of security, 
practicality and comfort. 

Regional Web is modernized continuously, setting the 
standards locally and reorienting information and the 
models of communication to adapt to international 
standards and to easily provide clients and visitors a 
useful information on the products and services. Some 
of the features of the new Regional Web are:

 Fully redesigned and organized section, adjusting the 
graphic lines, icons and other graphic aspects to the 
current international trend. 

  Responsive design that will identify the type of device 
to adapt the graphic environment.

  Possibility to personalize the site ranking the 
accounts according to the priority chosen by the client. 

 Complete reengineering of the flows, grouping 
similar operations and simplifying the steps required 
to finalize an operation.

  Graphic representation of the movements of 
accounts. 

  Incorporation of tags in movements of accounts and 
cards, which will allow clients to organize their debits, 
expenses and investments and to obtain a graphic 
representation of them in a month. 

 Permanent access to the Contact Center through the 
online chat available in all pages of the site. 

  Presence of video tutorials available to clients to 
inform them of the new characteristics. 
 

In 2017, we will be implementing “Regional Web 
Companies” with a new image and new features that will 
make it easier to be operated for our Corporate Clients. 

Regional “Móvil”
It allows our clients to have the Bank on their hands 
and to manage their accounts and financial operations 
comfortably; it makes it easier to conclude transactions 
using mobile devices, 24 hours a day and from any place. 
With this service, one has the advantage to carry out 
operations such as: 

 Account management: Cards, Savings accounts, 
Loans, Insurance, Checking Account, Automatic 
loans, Statements, Details of accounts and Consult of 
transactions. 

 Transfers: Internal transfers and SIPAP transfers.

 Payments: Payments of own and third-party Cards, 
Payments of own loans, Payments of Services and 
Barcode reader. 

 Consults: Returned Checks, Deposits to confirm, 
Request for checkbook and Currency exchange. 

 Connection to other alternative channels:  Web, Call 
Center, Chat Online, Call the Call Center, ATMs and 
Branches, How to get to – Road, Instagram, Twitter and 
Facebook. 

 Management:  PIN management, PIN change, PIN 
block, Touch ID, Activation screen and alert, Soft Token, 
Profile, Background color and Profile picture. 

In 2016, we were placed in eighth position regionally 
and first in Paraguay with 76.8 points over 100 as the 
best Bank in terms of Mobile Banking services, by the 
consultant TBI Unit through a report carried out in South 
America and its comparison with the most important 
Banks around the world. This study gathers the 
evaluation of 51 banking institutions from the following 
countries: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, 
Paraguay and Peru, and their comparison with 8 of the 
best Banks in Mobile Banking from countries like the 
United States and Spain. 

Guaranies Participation

Itau 25%
Banco Regional 15%
Banco Continental 13%
Citibank 8%
BBVA 7%
Visión 7%
GNB 5%
BNF 5%
Interfisa 4%
Atlas 2%
Sudameris 2%
Familiar 2%
Bancop 2%
Amambay 2%
Others 1%

Dollars Participation

Itau 25%
Banco Regional 17%
BBVA 15%
Banco Continental 9%
GNB 7%
Atlas 6%
Citibank 5%
Sudameris 4%
Amambay 4%
Bancop 3%
Interfisa 2%
Others 4%

Euro Participation

Banco Continental 36%
Itau 33%
Sudameris 14%
Banco Regional 9%
Others 7%
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WE BELIEVE
IN INNOVATION

Carlos Vera, Manager of IFI and Transactional 
Banking  

The Bank offers its clients products and services adapted to 
their needs, through channels that provide them experiences 
without frictions and which exceed their expectations. 

Ensuring having the best resources and technologies allows 
us to accompany the constant changes of society, which is 
fundamental to achieve the satisfaction of clients who are 
ever more demanding and sophisticated. 

We are convinced that we will become an important 
leader in the market as to Digital Banking, as we focus on 
providing a uniform experience in all of our platforms: 
Regional Web, Regional Móvil and even in our Branches
.

CHANNELS OF SERVICE

In line with the new institutional premises of “Security, 
Simplicity and Availability”, the entire team of Banco 
Regional continued working on the updating of the 
channels of remote access and service in branches. 

We remind you of our main channels of access: Regional 
Web, Regional Móvil, Contact Center, Corporate Contact 
Center, Social Networks, ATMs and SSTs. 

Other Channels: 
 E-mail

As to Social Networks, the percentages of growth between 
January and December for the Bank and the market were: 
on Facebook, 234% and 31.5%; on Twitter, 418% and 44.6% 
and on Instagram, 212% and 131%, respectively. 

These data showcase the acceptance of these channels as 
mediums of information and interchange and at the same 
time provide justification of the need to keep investing 
efforts to get to the new consumers of this century. 

INITIATIVES OF PROMOTION AND 
MARKETING

Exhibitions and Fairs 
Marketing actions were carried out to keep promoting 
the Agricultural and Livestock sectors. The majority of 

 Chat 
 Facebook
 Twitter: @RegionalPy
 Instagram: @regional_py
 Phone Service

Contactos 
 info@regional.com.py
 (071) 20 47 40
 (071) 219 0000
 (021) 419 0000
 (021) 619 4000
 *734  Tigo and Personal, 

free to call
 0800 111 800 free to call

the actions focused on these banking sectors were 
developed with the presence in the most important 
exhibits and events of the country, among which 
the following are cited: Agroshow Copronar in 
Naranjal (Alto Paraguay), Expo Canindeyú in La 
Paloma (Canindeyú), Expo Santa Rita in the city with 
the same name, department of Alto Paraná, Expo 
Mariano Roque Alonso in the city with the same 
name, Agrodinámica in Itapúa, among others.

Digital: Social Networks and Cross-media
Another important focus of Marketing in 2016 was 
social networks and digital space. 

A multidisciplinary taskforce was created and core 
topics were devised to work on the digital positioning 
of the bank. The main objective was to have the 
biggest number of fans/followers to then get more 
interaction. 

Some of the actions carried out were: 

 The #TBT on Thursday. 

 Internal competitions #SomosRegional, 
#FamiliaRegional, #NavidadRegional, so that 
collaborators get involved and participate in the 
experiences.

 The stories from clients who got to be protagonists 
in their projects thanks to the collaboration of the 
bank. 

 In addition to implementing the first live broadcast 
on trends from Feria Agrodinámica. 

Those actions helped to install issues that allowed 
fans/followers to interact with the issues presented. 

 Facebook
 Twitter
 Instagram
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On the celebration for the 25 years of the Bank, there were specific events for the different 
segments of public of the bank, such as the following:  

COMPLIANCE
As members of a society that wants to grow and 
develop, Banco Regional keeps itself up-to-date 
regarding the implementation of regulations issued 
by supervisory institutions (Central Bank of Paraguay 
and the Secretariat for the Prevention of Money 
Laundering [Seprelad, by its Spanish initials]), as well 
as other regional and worldwide institutions. It seeks 
to avoid and eradicate corruption with this, helping 
the bank areas with tools that may mitigate the risk of 
being involved in corruption cases.

Through the year 2016, the Compliance Department 
advised the Human Resources Department, following 
the procedures and international recommendations 
received from Rabobank B.V., to support the process 
of elaboration and application of policies related to the 
mitigation of such risk inside the bank. In June 2016, a 
new Code of Conduct for the institution was approved, 
linked to this and other topics of major interest. 

KROLL ASSOCIATES audits.
KROLL is an internationally renowned company as 
a financial institution evaluator related to policies 
and procedures of prevention of money laundering, 
terrorism financing and proliferation of massive 
destruction weapons. Since 2013, they have provided 
assistance to the bank on the actions and policies 
applied by our institution towards risk mitigation 
related to this point, successfully completing the last 
survey done on 2016 term. Today, negotiations for a 
new execution of the comprehensive survey process of 
prevention systems of the bank on matters of money 
laundering, terrorism financing and proliferation of 
massive destruction weapons have finished. 

Compliance Training
The Compliance Officers of Branches and Lines of 
Business participated on a Lecture led by consultants 
of KROLL ASSOCIATES. Dr. Rocío Vallejos (former 
Prosecutor for Economic Crimes) also led trainings 
on the Regional Offices at Encarnación, Asunción and 
Ciudad del Este, respectively, to complete the process 
of training for Commercial Assistants, Officers, 
Account Executives and Branch Managers.

The Branch Managers, Banking Managers and 
Regional Managers, who received the intensive 
training given by KROLL ASSOCIATES and specialist 
on Money Laundering Prevention, Professor M. 
Rocío Vallejos, have achieved excellent results on the 
examinations, considering their role as Compliance 
Officer, that also corresponds to them. 

Additionally, to comply with the annual training 
plan approved, training processes were carried out 
aimed to commercial staffers, which includes in-
person training, visual channels such as Universidad 
Regional, Module III, Module IV, as well as continuous 
follow-up in pursuit of assuring that the staffers 
will have the required knowledge to do their jobs. It 
should be noted that after finishing the virtual training, 
staffers are required to do an evaluation test, to 
assess the level of learning. Moreover, it is important 
to highlight the fact that staffers of the Compliance 
sector had attended to talks and meetings about 
Money Laundering Prevention, Terrorism Financing 
and FD at national and international levels, organized 
by the regulators and/or private institutions, with the 
objective of updating colleagues with the knowledge 
and techniques for the performance of their duties.

Topaz Trace.
Topaz Trace is a monitoring tool which works 
through an interface with the main system of the 
bank, allowing Commercial and Compliance areas to 
identify operations which do not adjust to the profile 
of the customer, assessing the appropriateness of the 
submission of reports to Seprelad. 

After its release to production in March 2013, this tool 
has had 6 optimization phases, adapting the controls 
to the requirements of the regulators, and the control 
procedures to which the office has been subjected.

Monitoring and additional controls
In 2016, hard work was put on performing controls 
and monitoring of operations, looking for additional 
alternatives of control, not limited to established 
procedures, mainly focusing on operations of 
International Transfers and Customer Profiles.

 Actions aimed at the Stakeholders
 Coordination of the General Meeting    

   and publications.
 Shareholders’ Dinner event.

 Actions aimed at customers
 Special presents for the 25 years.
 Decorative materials for branches.

 Actions in media
 Publication of advertisements in 

  newspapers.
 Mentions at radio services in Itapúa. 
 Social network campaign. 

 Actions aimed at the public
 Elaboration of a special report for 

  the 25 years, presented to journalists in 
  a breakfast.

 Actions aimed at staffers
 Support of lunch on Labor Day and New 

   Year’s Party on the occasion of the 25 
    years. 

Celebration of 25 
years of Regional 

1.4
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Bearer shares / Progress on Regulations. 
Compliance with Resolution No. 345/15 issued by 
Seprelad
Following the implementation of reference regulations, 
we have started, in mid-December 2016, the procedure 
to submit the Fourth Note to comply with provisions of 
Resolution No. 345/15 of Seprelad. Through the note, 
it was requested to clients with bearer shares to send 
the notarial document of modification of the articles of 
association or the proof of deposit of the bearer shares 
of the companies in an authorized Local Bank. 

FATCA
FATCA is a federal law of the USA with extraterritorial 
scope, theoretically with optional application by other 
countries. However, due to the close relationship 
many countries maintain with the USA, including ours, 
it becomes practically of mandatory compliance. It 
comprises the identification of American citizens and 
residents who have money abroad in qualified Foreign 
Financial Institutions (FFIs) with the aim to know if they 
are effectively declaring what is just in term of taxes. 
Our institution complies with the requirements of that 
Law, because the Paraguayan Government signed a 
cooperation agreement with the American Government 
in compliance with the provisions of it. 

In 2016, the procedure of internal development of 
the FATCA registry was concluded. Additionally, the 
procedures of due diligence continued to report the 
customers that show signs of being American taxpayers 
by March 2017. 

COMPLAINTS MANAGEMENT

All of the complaints raised, related to alleged 
infractions of Law No. 1334/98 of Customer and User 
Protection, among others, were duly considered and 
the timely answers of the bank were received by the 
customers with satisfaction.

The bank has a team of duly trained collaborators, 
whose function is centered on the quick solution of 
complaints of diverse nature and to channel those of 
large-scale ones to the respective areas. 

The complaints can be made on all the service channels 
that the bank has made available to the customers, in 
the many branches, agencies and service points, as 
well as on open phone lines, the webpage and other 
electronic means. 

IN 2016 ACTIONS HAVE BEEN TAKEN IN 
PURSUIT OF OFFERING HIGHER COMFORT TO 
CUSTOMERS AND COLLABORATORS, SOME 
OF WHICH ARE: 

Headquarters:

 Inclusive access for people with special needs.

 Development of an open working space for 
collaborators on the 3rd floor, IT.

 Improvements on Presidency, 5th floor.

Branches

 Development of an open working space for 
collaborators on the 1st floor, San Martin Branch.

 Remodeling of Shopping Mcal. López Branch.

 Remodeling of Villa Morra Branch.

 Relocation of Pirapó Branch.

Other actions:

  Renewal of the vehicle fleet (reduction from 8 to 6).

 Removal of 10 low-performance ATMs.

 Renewal of 21 ATMs in branches and relocation of 5 
ATMs.



Report and Financial Statements 2016 • We believe in you Report and Financial Statements 2016  • We believe in you

44 45

Our
acquisitions

1.5

 
The management of our acquisitions, as well as the link with providers, is another aspect 
that is taken care of in the pursuit of achieving the success of the business. As we make 
better contracts, being careful to pick those providers of goods and services which comply 
with labor and tax obligations, we take care of our own company and we contribute to the 
formalization of companies in the country. 

293 contracts are covered by the Contract Management. 

No. Type Contracts References Total 
Savings USD

Estimated 
Effect, 2016

2017 (*) On 
continuity

Number of 
purchases/ 
contracts

1 New YES New contracts (initial 
cost-estimate vs. final, 
closed)

633,091 170,587 462,505 11

2 Renewed YES Renewal of contracts for 
products or services

939,965 261,909 784,233 29

3 Changed YES Change of provider of 
products and/or services

293,761 64,926 228,835 6

4 Elimination YES Elimination in full of 
products or services

35,813 35,813 143,252 1

5 Internal YES/NO Reduction by “internal” 
saving actions

126,000 124,512 35,618 14

Total 2.028.631 657.747 1.654.442 60

IN PROCUREMENT:
Cost reductions registered in 2016

Savings per area Total savings USD Estimated effect, 2016 Year 2017 (*) On continuity

Operations 700.192 148.285 551.958
Administration 358.678 59.780 298.899
Logistics 512.724 274.769 521.512
Human Resources 283.925 74.062 209.863
Audit 169.612 98.568 71.043
Auditoría 3.500 2.333 1.167

Total 2.028.631 657.747 1.654.442

Mitigated risks in the negotiations of purchases/contracts

Type of action Amount Observations

Security 7 Examples: Unregistered licenses, lack of insurance, human resources 
management

Better analysis 7 With more analysis extra payments and unnecessary purchases were 
avoided

More coverage 4 Increase of coverage on aspects that were at risk
Better practices 3 Implementation of better practices wherever needed
Internal follow-up 3 Generation of follow-ups to mitigate risks

Total 24

Added value achieved on purchase/contract negotiations

Type of action Amount Observation

More services 16 Regarding more training, coverage on guarantees, etc.
Increase of internal control 4 More control of products/services offered
Same service on-demand 1 Same quality and cost of service, but on-demand
Direct factory service 1 Elimination of intermediation and direct contact with factories
Service unification 1 Better management and control
No tax losses 1 Same product/service but avoiding tax losses

Totales 24
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Connect
Be sustainable
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Governance 
Structure

2.1

The style of management adopted by Banco 
Regional, although it has a vertical structure, 
allows and promotes participation of its 
members in the development of the business and 
the organization itself, which turns it creative and 
flexible. 
The changes of the market and the trends 
marked by the new technologies generate 
daily challenges that can only be known and 
serviced through the active involvement of each 
collaborator. 

In our hierarchical line, the governance 
structures are: 
The General Meeting of Shareholders, which 
meets annually to analyze and discuss the 
financial statements and the way to use the 
dividends; and the Board of Directors, which is 
responsible for the direction and supervision of 
the functioning of the Bank following the defined 
strategic objectives. Likewise, directors have a 
managerial staff which is in charge of managing 
the many areas that comprise the organization 
and they are supported by auxiliary committees 
that are a specialized technical support unit. 

As of the end of 2016. the Board of Directors was 
comprised as follows: 

Directorio y Síndicos

RAÚL VERA BOGADO

Executive President

CORNELIS BEIJER

Vice-President

ALFREDO RAATZ BECKER
PETRUS VAN JAARSVELD
WOLFGANG BRÖNSTRUP WEIHER

Regular Directors

IRENE MEMMEL DE MATIAUDA
ERIK HEYL
FRANCISCO YANAGIDA 
ADRIÁN LORENZUTTI
MIRIAN RAATZ DE SOLEY

Alternate Directors

ROLAND WOLFF

Regular Trustee

SANDRA YSHIZUKA

Alternate Trustee

Eugenio Oze de Morvil 
General Manager

Matheus den Exter
COO

Óscar Elieser Godoy Silvero
Financial Manager

Walter Duarte Kallus
Corporate Banking Manager

Justin Van der Sluis
Branches and Commercial 
Intelligence Manager

Juan Carlos Meza Castro
Internal Audit Manager

Antonio Alejandro Giménez González
Compliance Manager

Marcos Dalla Fontana Cortessi
Internal Legal Counsel Manager

Jorge Sienkawiec Szostak
Corporate Banking Risks Manager

Per Mats Olof Hernegard
Individuals and SMEs Banking 
Risks Manager

Katya Spiridonoff Benítez
Human Resources Manager

Isabel María Galiano Báez
Operations Manager

Mirtha González Espinoza
I.T. Manager

Fabio Sitzmann Hein
Administrative Manager

Anahí del Rocio Heisecke Rivarola
Private Banking Manager

Nelson Daniel Cibils Farres
Treasury Manager

María Fernanda Carrón de Pederzani
Correspondents and Foreign 
Trade Manager

Erica Bettina Werner Schmidt
Data Quality Manager

Cynthia Maria Sotelo Galeano 
Branches Manager

AUXILIARY COMMITTEES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND TRUSTEES

EXECUTIVES

Human Resources Committee: The HR Committee is an 
executive body in charge of approving the implementation 
of those sub-systems and practices of human resources 
according to the needs of the organization and the strategic 
plan of the Bank as approved by the Board.

Credit Committee: It is responsible for ensuring compliance 
with the best practices, policies, proceedings, laws and 
standards set out by regulators to maintain a healthy and 
prudent administration of undertaken risks. 

Risks Committee:  Its objective is overseeing that the 
performance of the operations is adjusted to the objectives, 
guidelines and policies for the integral administration of 
risks, as well as limits of risk exposure which had been 
previously approved by the Board. 

ALCO Committee:  It is in charge of making decisions 
regarding the administration of transactions of assets and 
liabilities, receiving the support of duties performed by 
Treasury and other Departments in terms of report and 
analysis of expositions and it is a tactical body to ensure the 
normal development and sustainability of the institution in 
the long term. 

Compliance Committee: It is responsible for the approval of 
the Manual of Anti-Money Laundering/Funding of Terrorism 
and Proliferation of Weapons of Mass Destruction. Said 
Committee has to analyze issues related to the area of 
Compliance that by regulatory implications or reputation 
may affect the Bank, in addition to the analysis of cases that 
may be sufficiently justified to be reported to the Secretariat 
for the Prevention of Money Laundering. 

Strategic Management Committee: It is the executive body 
responsible for approving the big decisions related to the 
design and implementation of the Strategic Plan of the Bank, 
defined for the 2013-2017 period. 

Internal Audit Committee:  It is an executive body with the 
main objective of supervising the management procedures 
for risk, control and government, especially those referred 
to the generation and issue of financial information, internal 
control system, vigilance procedure, compliance with legal 
requirements from regulators and the Code of Conduct of 
the Bank. 
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Structure of the 
Company

2.2

Banco Regional, from 2008, is a Publicly-Traded Company (Sociedad Anónima Emisora de 
Capital Abierto). Its share portfolio is integrated by local partners who remain the majority. 

The percentages of Shares are 61.26% for local shareholders and 38.74% for foreign 
shareholders, in this case, Rabobank Development B.V. from the Netherlands. 

LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS

As of December 31, 2016, the shareholders are: 

Shareholders Percentage of 
participation in votes 

Nationality / Country of 
incorporation

Minority local shareholders 51.25% Paraguay
Grupo Raatz 10.28% Paraguay
Rabo Development B.V. 38.47% The Netherlands

Likewise, the next table provides details about the shareholder of the company Rabo 
Development B.V. 

Shareholder Percentage of 
participation

Nationality / Country of 
incorporation

Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. 100 The Netherlands WE BELIEVE
IN THE POWER

OF CONNECTIONS

Paola Quiñonez, Head of Foreign Trade

For our Bank, the connections play a principal 
rol, with good connections we place our bank in 
the international market. Today, we can open 
internationals accounts, obtain credits lines, set  an 
international negotiation, access to informations in 
real-time, all these allow to make right decisions, 
for our clients and the Bank.

The connections, empowered the bank with a solid 
growth for more than 25 years, accompanying the 
requirements of market and customers.
 

UNFOLD TO SEE THE ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
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Risk Management2.3

The Bank sets out this criterion based on the 
measurement of Liquidity Gaps, projecting its Balance 
through time to calculate the minimum reserves of 
Liquid Assets (Buffer) in local and foreign currency so 
that liabilities can be complied with ease.
 
The indicators that serve for early detection of future 
events that allow the advanced and timely reaction by 
risk managers are also controlled and analyzed. 
One of them is the Herfindahl Hirschman 
index, which sets out a measurement for 
the concentration of deposits and the 
participation of the 50 biggest depositors. 
The control of liquidity risks demands 
an exhausting process that includes the 
Commercial Areas, Finance, Risks and 
Treasury; it allows to manage liquidity in the 
short term and the need of funds in time 
with the purpose of complying with the 
goals proposed for the institution. 

The focus on liquidity control has 
allowed the compliance with the goals 
of the Institution, keeping a comfortable 
Liquidity situation despite the unfavorable 
market conditions for the country. The 
Recovery & Restructuring area assists 
clients who are with financial imbalances 
so they can return to normal operations. 

LIQUIDITY ADMINISTRATION 
RISK MANAGEMENT

The exposure to price variations, such as the 
Exchange Rates and Interest Rates, are part of 
the integral risk management of Banco Regional. 
For that reason, in the Policy of Market Risks, the 
models of measurement, control and risk limits 
from the price variation are determined with 
accuracy. The Exchange Rate Risk includes models 
consolidates through limits of Value at Risk (VAR) 
of the positions in foreign currency. The individual 
positions are also controlled automatically. The 
limits proposed for the risk of quotation are more 
demanding than those set out by the Central Bank 
of Paraguay in its regulations. 

To measure the Interest Risk, there are models 
based on the measurement of sensitivity of the 
Balance Sheet to the variation of a basic point of the 
interest rates in the market (Present Value Basic 
Point – PVBP) with limits set out for control and a 
VAR of Interest Rates as an auxiliary indicator of 
management. These measures allow us to project 
the GAP of Interest Rates and to assess the risks 
for the Active and Passive positions undertaken 
and, therefore, to manage the coverages and 
mitigation with precision. 

OPERATING RISK MANAGEMENT

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
RISK MANAGEMENT

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

The Operating Risk management in the Bank has a 
governance structure based on three lines of defense 
and each line has its responsibilities clearly set out; the 
definition of policies and standards that regulate the 
risk management and the tools that help risk holders to 

Attention to the Social and Environmental Risk 
Management is focused on strengthening the 
relationship with the client, identifying, evaluating 
and managing risks generated by the activities and 
projects of its endeavors. This is done to minimize 
possibilities of becoming indirect accomplices. 

The Bank has a list of non-fundable activities and a 
Risk Matrix based on an estimation of the risk of the 
funded activity and a determination of the exposure 
of the Institution to that risk. The intensity of due 
diligence and the depth of credit conditions are defined 
with these two factors. 

In 2016, the Bank incorporated satellite monitoring 
as an additional tool to evaluate and supervise 
the environmental risks to which the bank may be 
exposed. 

It is important to mention that, to achieve a good 
management of these risks, collaborators are 
consistently trained, so that they can adequately 
evaluate and measure the risks. 

 

identify, measure, assess, monitor, control and mitigate 
the operating risks and losses. 

The unit of Operating Risk reports to the Corporate Risk 
Management and the Risk Committee and works with 
all of the other departments of the Bank, registering the 
incidents that allow the identification and management 
of the opportunities of improvement in a database with 
the purpose of mitigating relevant risks. 
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WE BELIEVE
IN BEING 
SUSTAINABLE

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

In the area of Credit Risk Management, considering the segments targeted by the Bank, 
there are proceedings and tools that make it possible to evaluate, undertake and control 
credit risks for the types of debtors. 

In addition to the Recovery & Restructuring area, which assists Corporate, SMEs, 
Individuals and Small Companies, there is also an area of Account Overseeing and 
Monitoring, which is in charge of the follow-up of early warning indicators in the Portfolio 
of Clients. The main basis for the analysis is the ability to pay for the debtor, as expressed 
by the regulator, the Central Bank of Paraguay, for the purposes of maintaining the credit 
portfolio of the Bank rated and establishing allowances that cover losses estimated in the 
recovery of the credits.

INTERNATIONAL AGENCIES

Rating Type Rating CreditWatch/Outlook
Foreign Currency LT BB- Stable

Local Currency LT BB- Stable
Foreign Currency LT Ba2/Not Prime Stable

Local Currency LT Ba1/Not Prime Stable

LOCAL AGENCIES

Solvency Trend CreditWatch/Outlook

AApy Stable Stable

Jorge Sienkawiec, Corporate Risk Manager

Nowadays, the world is worried about the sustainability and, 
to enter and compete in the international market, it is necessary 
to consider that this subject is a key aspect of the business. In 
Banco Regional, we have introduced environmental and social 
variables in our credit analysis procedure, as well as satellite 
monitoring and legal compliance control mechanisms to our 
new projects and renewals. 

The implementation of the analysis has been a gradual 
procedure; we begin raising awareness with respect to the 
benefits of a sustainable production and the application of 
good practices. Jointly with other fellow Banks, we have 
approached our clients through targeted talks in major events, 
such as the Fairs. 

We are also working on sector guides for the management of social 
and environmental risks in the agricultural, livestock 
and agro-industrial sectors. With these 
processes, we believe that we can 
be more sustainable and that 
their effective application 
will enable access to better 
markets for our clients
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WE BELIEVE
IN COLLABORATING

Gloria Galeano, Accounting and Registry

The mission of our bank is to be committed to the 
success of our clients, so we must provide a good 
service to satisfy their needs. 

Seeking to accomplish this, we set out coordinated 
works in the areas. From our positions, we 
collaborate so that the client’s experience is as good 
as possible
 

Our Code of Conduct contains the general guidelines to be applied by each member, from 
directors to shareholders and collaborators, to preserve the reputation of the institution and 
create value for the client. 

The efforts made by Banco Regional to offer the best financial services with a favorable 
price-quality ratio arise from the visionary objective for which it was established. This 
implies a collaboration attitude and a suitable conduct that allows the mission to remain 
in force in the long-term. Every person has an individual responsibility as to the correct 
execution of this Code of Conduct. 

Code of Conduct2.4

OUR VALUES AND PRINCIPLES IN PRACTICE

The Values that guide our acts – Integrity, Professionalism and Positive Attitude- are the main 
principles that determine the way in which we must set links with clients and relate to the 
environment; these also determine the internal functioning of the organization. 

In 2016, the Code of Conduct was approved, launched and collaborators were trained on it. 

1. Approval of the 
Code of Conduct

2. Design of the digital 
material and the course 
in Universidad Regional

4. Implementation 
of the course in 

Universidad Region

3. Communication to the 
leaders and the Bank
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SOCIAL AND
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

03
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Initiatives to 
spread and social 
participation

3.1

The intention of Banco Regional is to contribute to 
the development of the country, transcending the 
commercial scope and getting involved in social and 
environmental issues to create better conditions 
for society, mainly in those communities in which it 
performs its business operations. 

INTERNAL CAMPAIGNS

#SomosRegional #FamiliaRegional
(#WeAreRegional #RegionalFamily) 

With the intention of promoting the sense of belonging 
among the collaborators of the Bank, we implemented 
the campaign #SomosRegional #Familia Regional, 
which consisted in the presentation of daily stories 
related to the work. These stories had to be shared on 
networks (posting videos or pictures). The winner was 
selected based on the following criteria: originality, 
number of people involved in the material, creativity, 
fun and demonstration of the essence of the Bank. 

The winners were:

TABLET

MELISA 
RIVAS SANDOVAL
Planning and Management 

Control Analyst

FLASK

JESÚS MIGUEL 
ROMÁN ESCURRO
Head of Customer Service

UMBRELLA

DIEGO 
FERNANDO DURKS
Executive of Company 

Banking

YERBA MATE VASE

CARMEN 
FRANCO HUME
Product Analyst

#NavidadRegional
(#RegionalChristmas)

Following the same guidelines, another competition 
was organized as #NavidadRegional, which consisted 
of the decoration with materials illustrating Paraguayan 
Christmas in the many areas and branches. The price 
was cash to organize a group party. In this case, the 
winners decided to give their money to a charity activity. 

This is why we seek to engage or drive (internal or 
external) projects that point towards this purpose, both 
as alliances or promotion. 



Report and Financial Statements 2016 • We believe in you Report and Financial Statements 2016 • We believe in you

66 67

WE BELIEVE
IN SHARING 

WITH JOY

César Zayas, Credit Administration Analyst

The challenge for the Bank is to understand and comprehend 
that nowadays, clients choose and value entities that have a 
more socially responsible conduct to perform their business. 
With that purpose, the help provided must pay attention to 
the corporate image and the human side of business. 

Worrying about and taking care of the community 
surrounding us proves that, in addition to our growth as 
an institution, we are also interested in the growth of the 
country. A large sum of money is not needed to transform a 
little thing into a big thing. Sometimes, all you need is some 
time and will.
 

“SEED” PROGRAM FOR THE DETECTION AND DEVELOPMENT OF TALENT

The “Seed” Program represents one of the fundamental 
pillars of the commitment of the Bank with the 
development of people and this year, 37 collaborators 
participated. 

The main objective of this initiative is to identify the 
degree of presence of competencies and values of the 
Bank in the collaborators and, from that point forward, 
to develop an Individual Development Plan aligned with 
the needs of the collaborator and the organization. 

The Program has an estimated duration of four months 
and comprises several stages which the participant  

1. Initial 
workshop + 
Assessment 

Center

2. Assessment 
Interviews

3. Assessment 
Interviews

4. Follow-up 
Individual 
Coaching

5. Assessment 
meeting

covers: an Assessment Center, an Individual interview, 
an Individual Coaching and a Follow-up with a 
consultant. 

A study of these characteristics allows, solidly and 
consistently, to determine the plans of action that a 
person may implement, orienting their professional 
development and the planning of substitution and 
succession within the Bank. The study is based on 
two fundamental concepts for its effectiveness: self-
knowledge and self-development. 
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UNIVERSIDAD REGIONAL INTERNSHIP PROGRAM ADDITIONAL BENEFITS

(Regional University)

Universidad Regional has the objective of ensuring 
constant and integral training of all of the collaborators 
of the Bank, including on regulatory issues. We have 
specific training for collaborators from branches. 

Since 2009, we use the E-learning Universidad Regional 
Platform, which allows its access to this process and 
contributes to the development of an internal career. 

The courses implemented in 2016 in the e-learning 
mode are: 

Course No. of Participants

Policies, Standards and 
Conditions for the granting of 
credits to SMEs

96

Customer Service Model 405
Forms of Payment applied to 
Foreign Trade

108

Transactional Banking 301
Insurance 241
Code of Conduct 738
Compliance, Level IV 704

Following its commitment with the support to the 
training of young students in school and college, 
Regional keeps its Internship Program. 

The program takes place between the months of 
November and February in the Headquarters and all 
of the branches of the country. The objective of the 
program is to provide youngsters their first experience 
of a workplace, so they can know how to perform, what 
values have to be incorporated and the basic technical 
knowledge to start in the financial area. 

In 2016, we received 63 high school and college students 
from public and private institutions from several parts 
of the country. When it comes to university interns, their 
data is registered in our system with the possibility of 
being called to cover vacancies.

We pay attention to comply with all of the benefits set 
out by Law for the collaborators and their families. At 
the same time, we identify others to make them feel 
even better, to support their integral development and to 

TABLE OF BENEFITS GRANTED

Benefit Investment

Medical Insurance Coverage of 80% of the cost for the beneficiary and the basic 
family group

Life Insurance Coverage of 100% of the cost of the life insurance
Marriage 5 working days off and a subsidy for marriage
Maternity and Childbirth  126 calendar days of license for maternity.

 Breastfeeding period of 90 minutes per day for 6 months from 
the date of return
 A present is given for the newborn. 

License for illness of children 10 working days per year for the mother and father
Family bonus  6% of the minimum wage of the Bank, for children up to 17 

years-old, paying the double for children of widower workers
 Additional 50% family bonus for employees with children with 

disabilities
Subsidies  For the death of a spouse, children or parents of the employee

 For the birth of a child of the employee
 For marriage

Day care benefit Amount set out by the Collective Contract, for the payment of 
day care of children up to 4 years-old

License for college exams 12 working days off paid for people who undertake college 
education and who must take regular exams are conceded. 

Monthly stipend Amount set out according to the Collective Contract
Uniforms Twice a year (one for winter and another one for summer)
Birthdays  Right to a day off for birthday, to be exercised in the month of 

the birthday
 A birthday present is given to each collaborator. 

Workers’ Day Celebration of the workers’ day per region
End-of-year celebration End-of-year celebration in Encarnación

Presents for Mother’s Day and Father’s Day Presents are given for Mother’s Day and Father’s Day

25 years of Banco Regional Presents to all collaborators for the 25 years of the Banco and 
an additional present for all collaborators who were with the 
Bank for 25 years

keep them to consolidate our team. For that reason, we 
make a significant investment in the implementation of 
additional benefits, which are as follows:
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LACTATING CHILDREN IN THE
PEDIATRIC HOSPITAL OF ENCARNACION

DRIVING ENTREPRENEURIAL 
TRAINING

SUSTAINABLE FINANCES DESK

As Sponsor, Banco Regional keeps supporting the 
“Lactario” Program of the Pediatric Hospital of 
Encarnacion. The service of Lactario is part of the 
integral treatment of the hospitalized patient and the 
external nutritional clinic, and it is aimed at patients 
who need to improve their nutritional condition and lack 
the means for it. 

In 2016, the hospitalized patients serviced were 80, and 
an average of 7 patients/families per month received, 
during their stay at the hospital, milk formulas, cereals, 
iron and vitamins, reducing the families’ expenses and 
the risks of complications. 

The preparation was exclusively made by a 
nutritionist who participates in medical visits daily 
and also prepares a menu for patients based on their 
pathologies. 

This year, we supported the Regional Seminar on 
Corporate Social Responsibility, which took place for 
the 3rd time, in the city of Encarnación, organized by 
the Association of Christian Businessmen – ADEC, in 
Spanish. 

Our president, Raúl Vera Bogado, was in charge 
of presenting one of the lectures in the Panel on 
“Corporate Management for Development”. It had the 
purpose of showing some proof of how to aim for the 
success of the business contributing to development, 
going beyond simply generating profit for the company. 

The Sustainable Finances Desk promotes the 
responsibility of the financial sector in the support and 
strengthening in the transformation into a sustainable 
economy, considering the leadership in the joined 
efforts of all interested parties (clients, collaborators, 

authorities, NGOs and the public) when facing 
risks and taking advantage of the opportunities in 
sustainable risks in Paraguay. 

It is comprised by all Banks member to the 
Association of Banks of Paraguay (ASOBAN) and 
it is coordinated by our Bank. 

The main achievements of the Sustainable 
Finances Desk in 2016 were: 

 Getting legal personality and performing all 
related administrative proceedings (registry 
before the Sub-secretariat for Tax, Single Tax 
Registry, opening of a Savings Account in a Bank, 
acquisition of invoices and receipts, etc.) 

 Hiring a Manager to lead the organizational 
functioning of the Sustainable Finances Desk, 
Mrs. Silvia Fernández. 

 Preparation of institutional documents: 
Corporate Governance Plan, Internal Rules and 
Ethics Code. 

The activities performed included: 

 Workshop on the Analysis of Social and 
Environmental Risks, aimed at staff of the 
financial institutions.

 Launch of the Social and Environmental 
Guidelines for the Sustainable Funding of 
the Livestock Sector and Workshop for the 
presentation and explanation of the Guide. 

 Interinstitutional meetings with the Secretariat 
for Environment, the Inter-American 
Development Bank, the UN Environment 
Program and the Rural Association of Paraguay. 

 Participation in events of other institutions: 
Preparation of the Department Plan of Action of 
Meat and Soybean, Launch of the “Agriculture 
and Development in Paraguay” book, Workshop 
on Systematization of Good Practices in the 
Livestock Sector for the production of meat, 
Seminar on “Systems of Sustainable Livestock, 
Agricultural and Forestry Production”, among 
others. 

WE BELIEVE 
GROWING WITH 

YOU AND BUILDING 
TOGETHER 

Ángel Chávez, Agricultural Producers Banking Executive

 Being part of an investment project of any client is not simply 
about business, but a valuable mutual construction: we help to 
build projects of our clients and they help with our professional and 
personal construction. This is the added value that characterizes us as 
an institution.

Nidia Ramos, Regional Manager, East.

Having the opportunity to participate in projects of the client, seeing 
them turned into reality and consolidated with time, generate a deep 
feeling of satisfaction.

Luigi Boccia, Livestock Executive

The evolution of each client contributes to the growth 
of our own chain of value and consequently, 

to the constant transformation of the 
country. The big challenge for the 

future is to turn this “Growth” 
into “Development”, to achieve 
a multiplying effect in the rest 
of the population, raising 
in general terms the living 
standards of the country.
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4.1 ECONOMIC ANALYSIS AND OUTLOOK*

NEW GLOBALIZATION: 

DEVELOPED ECONOMIES

International Overview 

DIVERGING TRENDS, LACK 
OF POLICIES, RECOVERY OF 
AGRICULTURAL COMMODITIES AND 
PROTECTIONISM FEARS

The global economic recovery seems to have 
reflected a better rhythm in the second quarter of 
2016, but it is still below its potential and risks to 
go lower persist. 

The economic recovery of the U.S. in the third 
quarter was important and in the fourth quarter, 
it was also encouraging, although with a lower 
relative dynamism. In Europe, the recovery is 
equally persisting towards the end of 2016; 
however, political risks may slow it down, as well 
as other factors like high indebtedness, increase 
in the prices of oil and low competitiveness which 
still represent big challenges. 

After years of expansive monetary policy in 
developed economies and with a small impact in 
the economic growth, there are questions on the 
availability of other monetary instruments and 
limits of the fiscal policy, considering the high 
indebtedness of those economies. 

There is growing consensus on the impact of 
negative interest rates and the focus moves 
towards the need to face structural reforms. 
Monetary policies continue to be expansive 
but the focus shall not be on interest rates or 
performance curves. 

Regionally, there are better news. Prices of 
agricultural commodities increased again after 
2.5 years. The worst is apparently over in Brazil 

and Argentina is slowly but steadily recovering. 
Lower levels of inflation will allow better monetary 
policies to promote credit and reduce the weight of 
debts and the slowing down in the normalization of 
FED policies will even provide a larger margin for 
these measures. 

NEW PARADIGMS, DIVERGENCE OF 
MONETARY POLICIES, “RE-INFLATION”, 
PROTECTIONISM, PERSISTENCE OF 
VOLATILITY IN MARKETS

United States
• Economic recovery increases rhythm in the third 
quarter and there is extended consensus for the 
increase of interest rates by FED on Tuesday 13, 
by 25bps. 
• Less intense de-inflation pressure. GDP would 
grow 2.7% in 2016 and 2.0% in 2017.
• Fiscal bump for infrastructure will drive the 
added demand (growth of the GDP), induce a 
higher inflation and a quicker normalization of the 
monetary policy with increases of interest rates. 
• However, levels shall not rise above 3.0% until 
mid-2018. 
• The US$ will strengthen significantly, even more 
with the repatriation of capital with the announced 
incentives. 

EMERGING ECONOMIES: 

• Outlooks of higher inflation and growth will 
depress the price of bonds, affecting emerging 
economies and driving the stock market in the U.S. 
• Questions: capacity of negotiation to increase 
the limit of indebtedness of the government, 
impact of the protectionist rhetoric on the world 
trade and effect of “non-conventional diplomacy” 
on multilateralism (commercial agreements, 
environmental agreements, geopolitical risks). 

European Union
• Rhythm of BREXIT still to be defined, which 
adds uncertainty to the British economy and to 
the stability of community institutions, with the 
proximity of elections in several countries. 
• Failure of the referendum in Italy endangers the 
capacity to solve vulnerabilities in Italian banks, and 
the structure of the euro in the long term. 
• Less intense deflationary pressure, but still with 
a slow growth of the GDP, between 1.0-1.6% in 
2016/2017. 
• QE may be reduced, but only from mid-2017, and 
gradually. 
• Systemic European banks, like Deutsche, add to 
the weakness of the economic environment. The 
support of the German government is expected to 
avoid contagion. 
• The growing discontent with the impact of 
the migration crisis, the persisting economic 
weakness, the divergence of monetary policies of 
developed economies, negative performance in 
European capital markets, the perception of the 
loss of sovereignty of member states, and doubts 
on the relations between the U.S. and Europa 
encourage Eurosceptic progress. 
• The strengthening of the US$ may drive European 
exports and help for an economic dynamism. 
However, the possible protectionism may inhibit 
said impact. 

QE, THE “NEW NORMAL”. DETACHMENT 
OF ASIAN ECONOMIES?

Japan
• Continuity of the expansive monetary policy and 
the divergence of economic policies. 
• The purchase of bonds will continue, but the types 
of instruments and terms will be chosen by the 
Bank of Japan to adjust the curve if needed. 

• Uncertainty in the tone of the U.S.-Japan 
relations. Will it be a better ally than the U.S.?
• The detachment of the Asian economies 
from the rest of the global economy, and the 
effectiveness of the new Asian Reconstruction and 
Development Bank, led by China. 

China
• New Normal: growth of the GDP by 6.5% in 2016, 
6.2% in 2017 and 6.0% in 2018. 
• Even so, it will continue to demand large 
volumes of commodities. 
• However, changes in the policy of strategic 
stocks of certain grains, like corn, may affect 
global markets. 
• Difficulties in the financial system may 
adversely impact and cause a quicker economic 
deceleration. 
• Risks of a real estate bubble. 
• The renminbi may keep getting weaker in 
2017 due to the economic deceleration and the 
reduction of international reserves. 
• Doubts on the relationship between the U.S. and 
China and the impact on the global commerce. 

MORE STABILITY IN LATIN AMERICA? IMPACT 
OF THE OPEC AGREEMENT, NORMALIZATION 
IN U.S. AND REVERSION OF CAPITAL 
FLOWS? INFLATIONARY PRESSURE?

Brasil
• The country faces the worst recession since 1900. 
The GDP in 2016 would fall by -3.5% and a growth by 
1.0% is expected in 2017. 
• Successful initial adjustment of fiscal measures 
but the medium and long-term will depend on deep 
reforms. 
• Political capacity to reduce indebtedness. Reform of 
the pension system. 
•  Impact of the adjustment of the FED on the 
sustainability of the Brazilian debt. 
• Accommodating monetary policy: sustained 
reductions of the SELIC are expected to 425bps until 
late 2017, as inflation expectations are adjusted. 

(*) Main source: MF Economía. 
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• Investment opportunities and tax amnesty 
will attract capital towards the end of 2016 and 
2017. However, consumption may still be modest 
considering the high indebtedness of families and the 
drop in the income per capita. 
• The real will have relative stability, but depreciation 
by 12% is expected to 3.90 in 2017. It will depend on 
the rhythm of adjustment in the U.S. 
• Protectionism in U.S., persisting weakness in 
Europe and the “internal” focus on the economic 
growth in China may inhibit the recovery of exports 
with the expected depreciation. 
• Agri-commodities will drive the trade balance 
in Brazil. 

Argentina
• Initial reforms of the new government were 
successful, but the rhythm decreased. 

• The GDP would drop by -2.2% in 2016 and would 
only recover less than 1.0% in 2017. 
• Inflation reflects a decreasing trend, but it would be 
less than 20% in 2018. 
• Reforms allowed a significant recovery of 
International Reserves and there are no difficulties 
expected for the external funding in 2017. 
• This will induce a relative stability of the Argentine 
peso, expecting a level of 16-17 pesos per US$ by 
late 2017. 
• Agribusiness will drive exports, but may see a drop 
in soybean as taxes will only reduce gradually from 
January 2018. 

Local Overview

REAL SECTOR

By the end of 2016, the Total GDP registered an 
inter-annual growth of 4.1%, higher than the 3.0% 
verified in 2015, reflecting a larger dynamism in 
several sectors and with prominence on the sector of 
Constructions, Electric Energy and Manufacturing. It 
should be mentioned that the GDP without Agriculture 
or Binational Entities, which intends to indicate the 
dynamism of other non-traditional sectors of our 
economy, also reflected a higher growth in 2015, of 
3.2% v. 2.3% in 2015. 

In 2016, after a First Quarter with a modest growth 
of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) by 1.5%, the 
economic activity reflected more dynamism with 

expansions of 6.5% and 5.4% in the second and third 
quarters, respectively, ending the fourth quarter with 
a growth of 3.4%, all of them in inter-annual terms. 
This lower quarterly expansion at the end of the year 
was influenced by a smaller contraction of 1.8% in 
the Livestock, Forestry and Fisheries sector, and less 
dynamism in the sectors of Electricity and Water and 
Construction, which still reflected a notable evolution. 

This evolution reflects a good performance, as 
it consolidates a trend of real expansion of the 
Paraguayan economy that is higher than the average 
of the region. 
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expanded by 1.4% and Government consumption was 
reduced by 2.8%, an evolution that would be explained 
by the cut of current expenses promoted by the 
Government to comply with the legal limits of the Fiscal 
Responsibility Law that determines a deficit ceiling of 
1.5% of the GDP. Meanwhile, the Fixed Capital Gross 
Formation maintained the added demand with a rise 
by 6.5% while exports grew by 3.0% and imports were 
reduced by 0.8%. 

The economic dynamics of Paraguay were very 
positive considering the average growth of countries 
in the region, where the regional environment did not 
cooperate with external demand for the GDP to reflect 
a more similar performance to its potential growth 
(4.5%). Only after a change in the government did Brazil 
show signs of more stability. In Argentina, the rhythm of 
the implementation of the reforms have dropped, even 
though there was progress on the fiscal strengthening, 
the reduction of inflation and a normalization with 
external capital markets. The rest of the region has not 
been the exception. Chile has a very weak economic 
rhythm, complicated by an unfavorable external 
environment and key production sectors with union 
controversies. 

Finally, it may be remarked that 2016 reflected a new 
period of positive growth of the Paraguayan economy, 
consolidating a growing trend that begun in 2002. 

ACCUMULATED VARIATION 2015 2016

GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT 3.0 4.1

Agriculture 6.5 2.6

Livestock, forestry and fisheries  1,5 4.1

Manufacturing and mining 3.0 5.3

Electricity and water 1.6 12.6

Construction 2.5 18.6

Services 2.4 1.6

Taxes to products 0.5 0.9

GDP (without AGRICULTURE and BI-NATIONALS) 2.3 3.2

Source: Extracted from the Report on National Accounts of March, 2017, Central Bank of Paraguay

The growth of the GDP in 2016 was based mainly on 
internal factors, such as the good dynamics verified 
in specific activities of the secondary and commerce 
sectors, but also on external factors such as the 
recovery of net exports. 

On the offer, the most significant economic 
growth was seen in sectors that do not directly 
receive banking funding: generation of energy and 
construction. 

The generation of hydroelectric energy registered 
record volumes, influenced by a notable production 
in Itaipu of more than 103 million MWh in 2016. This 
drove growth in the sector of Electricity and Water 
with a real variation of 12.6%. 

Another sector with a growth of two digits was the 
sector of Construction, with a real inter-annual 
variation of 18.6%. In this sector, private investments 
in corporate and residential projects were mainly 
funded with direct foreign investments and the public 
investment in infrastructure with fiscal resources. 
As to the demand, however, its evolution was weak 
due to a reduction in the domestic consumption, as 
a consequence of the slowing down of the banking 
credit and a higher level of indebtedness of economic 
agents. 

In fact, the Total Consumption registered a modest 
growth by 0.9% while private consumption was 
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The agriculture sector obtained the same real 
rate of growth of 2.6% in 2016 due to the good 
performance of the main agricultural items. The 
soybean campaign of 2015/6 ended with an equal 
area to 2014/5 according to data published by the 
Paraguayan Chamber of Exporters and Traders of 
Cereals and Oleaginous Commodities (CAPECO, for 
its Spanish initials) and the Institute of Agricultural 
Biotechnology (INBIO, for its Spanish initials), where 
the increase in production occurred due to the growth 
in the average performance of 10.4%. For the current 
2016/7 campaign, the outlook is also good, and a 
growth of the harvesting area is expected by 3%, 
which would lead us to an increase in the production 
that would be above 9 million tons depending on 
performance. 

In fact, the preliminary results of the soybean harvest 
until mid-2017 indicate that this harvest would have 
records of productivity, with an average performance 
per hectare of approximately 3,500 kg

The production of corn and wheat closed its 
campaign with positive numbers. In the case of 
corn, the weather has been favorable for its growth 
in addition to the increase in the harvest area, which 
resulted in a record production of 5.5 million tons, 
which represents an increase by 9.5% with respect 
to the previous campaign. It should be mentioned 
that even if the harvest 
performance was not like last year’s, the increase in 
the area managed a growth by 9.5% in production. 

For wheat, the harvest area in the 2015 campaign 
had a drop by 4.9%. As wheat is mostly a 
supplementary item of soybean, the smaller 
margins obtained with the oleaginous product and 
the low prices of wheat induced many producers to 
choose to reduce their harvest area or not harvest 
due to fears of worsening their financial situation. 
The outlook for 2017 foresees an increase in the 
area due to the enthusiasm offarmers for better 

ENCOURAGING EVOLUTION OF AGRICULTURE
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performance. However, if the trend of prices of corn 
and wheat continues to drop, an extension of area 
should not be expected. 

Finally, for rice, perspectives of production are good, 
and the performance around 8,000 kg/hectare is 
expected. The evolution of the Brazilian market 
will be important for exports, as well as for the 
creation of new markets as seen in 2015 and 2016 
with exports to Colombia and other countries in 
smaller scale. In a context of stability of the Brazilian 
currency of gradual recovery of its internal demand, 
in addition to the negative weather impact suffered 
by the production of rice in the south of Brazil, the 
perspectives of the price of rice are encouraging 
locally. 

As previously stated, in the first quarter of 2017, a 
generalized enthusiasm was seen due to record 
levels of performance in the harvests of soybean and 
a very good performance of rice, estimating a historic 
year for the oleaginous product. These estimations 
got more relevance with the recovery of international 
prices that has been seen since the end of the first 
semester of 2016. 

As seen in the following graphics, during the last 9 
years, impacts of different nature were seen in the 
agricultural sector:  in 2009 and 2012, the sector 

was adversely affected by supply hits with severe 
droughts, seeing serious contractions by 25% and 
28.3%, respectively. From the first quarter of 2014 
to November of 2015, the adverse impact was seen 
in the terms of interchange with a decreasing trend 
until November, 2015, a period in which the price of 
soybean was reduced by 46.99% (to give an example 
from the sector). 

However, the agricultural sector has proven to have 
a quick capacity to recover, as seen in 2010 and 
2013 and with a persisting growth in real terms, 
even during the retraction in prices in the period 
between the third quarter of 2014 and the end of 
2016, responding to the drop in prices with increased 
productivity.
 
This evolution reflects the significant productivity 
and efficiency of the Paraguayan agriculture, based 
on the large evolution of the Agricultural GDP, 
which in real terms proves a positive trend in the 
referred period (2008-2016). It should be mentioned 
that this production strength was possible thanks 
to important investments in updated technology by 
producers and supported, almost entirely, by the 
banking system, where Regional is the main bank of 
the country supporting the agricultural sector with a 
market share of around 27%. 
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After the drop in the first quarter, the livestock sector 
managed to recover with a good growth by 14.4% 
and the third quarter continued with a good dynamic, 
increasing by 5.6% strengthened by the larger 
production of bovine livestock caused by the larger 
demand of the Russian market. The Paraguayan 
livestock is still outstanding in the main global markets, 
ending the year as the seventh exporter of beef in 
the world, surpassing traditional exporters such as 
Argentina and Uruguay. 

The production of November, 2016, was generally of 
184.2 thousand heads, 25% more than the previous 
month. 89% of them were produced in refrigerators and 
11% in slaughterhouses. For export, 160.4 thousand 
heads were produced in November, which implies a 
growth by 26% with respect to October, with an added 
total as of November of 1.8 million heads, representing 
119.7 thousand heads more than the production in the 
same period in 2015. 
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Seeing the evolution of the production, it can be stated 
that it is currently in similar levels to 2014 and 2015. 
Although there is volatility, this is due to the peaks 
of demand per estate’s production, as well as the 
moments in which a large part of the region suffered 
floods. In terms of sectors, the Livestock, Forestry and 
Fisheries Sector registered a growth by 4.1% in 2016. 

Fiscal management has reflected an adequate 
compliance with the Law on Fiscal Responsibility, 
registering an added deficit of 1.5% of the GDP as 
of the end of 2016, with the peculiarity that 100% is 
explained by capital expenses (investments). 

A brief recount of fiscal accounts as of November 
indicates that the total income of the Central 
Administration reached PYG 25.5 trillion, with a growth 
by 6.8% more than November in the last year. Tax 
incomes represent 70% of them. Collections from the 
National Directorate for Customs  in November had 
an inter-annual positive variation of 13.7%. In 2016, 
collections of said institution reached PYG 8 trillion, a 
bit higher than 2015. 

Central Administration expenses as of the end of the 
penultimate month of the year added up to PYG 22.7 
trillion, a nominal increase by 3.7% compared to the 
year before. However, total expenses of the Central 
Administration with respect to the GDP were reduced 
from 22% in 2015 to 20% in 2016. In the expenses, 
we see a small contraction (0.2%) of the expenses 
in remunerations, about PYG 18 billion that could be 
considered small but reflect the first inter-annual 
reduction in decades. Non-personal services expenses 
increased 25.3% compared to the same period of 
the previous year. Said expense represented PYG 1.1 
trillion as of the end of November. 

As for the structure of the Expense of the Central 
Administration, there has been a better management. 
While in 2012, salaries were 51% of the expenses and 
investments only represented 9%; in 2016, salaries 
were 1% of total expenses and investments, 39%. 
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As of the end of December, the deficit was PYG 2,269 
billion, which represents 1.5% of the GDP, just hitting 
the ceiling of the Law on Fiscal Responsibility. As for 
indebtedness, as of the end of November, the total 

Fiscal Balance/GDP

Primary Fiscal Deficit/GDP (Mobile Averages)

Source: MF Economía with data from the Ministry of Finance

Source: Extracted from the Report of the Ministry of Finance, SITUFIN, February 2017

   Argentina   Brasil    Uruguay    Paraguay

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
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balance of the public debt was US$ 6,092 million, 
approximately 22% of the GDP, comprised by loans and 
bonuses, with participations of 36.3% and 63.7% on the 
public debt, respectively.
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COMMERCIAL BALANCE
The reduction of the external demand and the drop 
of the prices of commodities have led most net 
exporting countries of agricultural commodities 
to have problems in their commercial balance and 
apparently, it will be a challenge for Latin American 
economies to revert this situation. According to 
figures from the Central Bank of Paraguay, total 
exports in 2016 reached USD 11,147.8 million, 
indicating an increase of 2.3% with respect to 2015. 
Among them, exports registered added up to USD 

In the last part of the year, exports had a decrease 
due to the seasonality of exports. In October and 
November, it had the lowest values of the year, 
exporting for US$ 578 million in the latter, implying an 
inter-annual drop by 4%. 

8,493 million and re-exports, USD 2,621.9 million, with 
increases by 2% and 3.2%, respectively. Imports added 
up to USD 9,789.0 million during 2016, reflecting a 
reduction of 5.1% with respect to 2015. 

In addition, the added balance of the Commercial 
Balance in 2016 registered a surplus of USD 1,358.9 
million with a significant growth of 133.9% compared 
to 2015. 
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Analyzing the period between January and November 
of this year, there are 11.2 million tons of soybean 
and sub-products (grains, flour, oil) exported for US$ 
3,579 million, and in terms of volume, it decreased 
slightly (0.7%) compared to the previous year and in 
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  Soybean     Meat products     Electricity     Others

3,579

3,420

4,257

4,418

1,032

1,066

1,240

951

1,439 8,009

7,810

9,123

8,917

1,453

1,645

1,489

1,959

1,871

1,981

2,059

monetary terms, it had a positive variation of 4.6%. 
Reviewing the products of soybean, as well as grains, 
we see that 5.3 million tons have been exported, 
practically without variation since September 
(exporting the remains of the 2015/6 campaign), for 
which US$ 1,814 million were paid, values which are 
higher by 14.1% and 17.9% to the previous year. Oil 
and flour have been sent abroad in 4.5% and 3.9% 
in terms of volume. In 2015, processing of soybean 
reached 45%, using more than 80% of capacity 
installed. However, recently Argentina rehabilitated 
the regime of temporary admission in full, meaning 
that its processing industry can import soybean 
grains from Paraguay and Bolivia without paying 
duties to transform it into flour, oil and biodiesel. With 
this, the Argentina industry, with a great capacity of 
crushing, is once again a significant competition for 
the local industry. 

As of the end of November, wheat fell 0.8% in 
exported tons. However, it generated a higher foreign 
currency income, 3.1% higher than in the same 
period of the previous year. In the year, it was the 
grain with the best performance, with an increase by 
86% in exported volume. La bad quality in Brazil and 
the lower prices helped the performance mentioned 
above. The large volume was due to bulking stock, as 
the mills had better prices for shipments abroad. 

Meat products as of the end of November registered 
shipments for US$ 1,032 million corresponding 
to 278 thousand tons, which is an increase in the 
exported volume by 2.3% and a drop by 3.2% in 
dollars, due to the fall of average export prices. 

By differencing exports per type of meat, the chilled 
meat saw an inter-annual increase by 23.3%, getting 
to 84 thousand tons. As for the value of shipments, 
a decrease of 11.7% was registered in the price per 
ton with an average of 4,520 US$/ton. It should be 
mentioned that, despite a drop of import prices, the 
market in the Andes is still the main destination for 
chilled meat with 67% of the total sent at an average 
price of 4,429 US$/ton. 

Shipments of frozen meat had a bad performance 
compared to 2015. 151 thousand tons of said type 
of meat were exported for a total amount of US$ 
525 million. This represents a drop in both terms 
by 6.7% and 11.8%. The main buyer of frozen meat 
is Russia, which has reduced its demand so it 
impacted shipments considerably and prices have 
dropped in 5.5%,  cvalued for export in average at 
3,471 US$/ton. On the other hand, chilled meat had 
better results than in 2015, sending 19% more in 
tons, 16 thousand tons approximately, and receiving 
9.6% more in payment, some US$ 40 million more. 

EXTERNAL SECTOR

EXPORTS
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The increase in demand of Chile, the main buyer, 
has positively influenced the results as of November. 
Finally, the offals increased shipments by 3.4%, 
representing 10.6% less in income in dollars with a 
drop by 13.5% in the average price of export, valued 
at around 1,614 US$/ton. 

Non-traditional exports, i.e. those products that 
years ago were not normally exported, also had 
a lower performance. In the January-November 
period, said exports were valued approximately 
at US$ 1,080 million, US$ 13 million more than in 
2015. Among the main products comprising non-
traditional exports, and in which the country has 
managed to produce with efficiency, there are cables, 
seeds, plastic containers and dosed medicine. 

A significant part of non-traditional exports is 
done through the maquila regime, which has been 
growing in recent years, multiplying by 12 between 
2005 and 2015. Although maquila industries have 

been affected by the retraction of the Brazilian economy, 
they still maintain a good performance. 

Imports from January to November of 2016 had a 
retraction of 7.5%, about US$ 653 million less compared 
to 2015. Among the non-perishable consumption goods, 
there was a small increase by 0.4%, driven by the import 
of electronic devices. On the contrary, perishable goods 
were contracted by 3.5%, which represent about US$ 80 
million. Intermediate goods decreased by 16.9%. There 
is a lower import of fuel and lubricants among them. 
Finally, capital goods dropped slightly by 2.5% and there 
is a reduction in imports of equipment and machinery 
for agriculture. 
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Exchange rates started 2016 with a quote in the retail 
market of 5,820 PYG/US$. In January, the dollar was 
quoted at 5,950 PYG/US$ and in said month, upward 
pressures due to a slower rhythm of exports and more 
demand of the U.S. currency for tourism. This was 
joined by the first adjustment of interest rates of the 
Federal Reserve of the U.S. (FED), which raised the 
reference rate by 25 basis points after 5 years. Then, in 
the next three months, the dollar stabilized in levels that 
averaged 5,600 PYG/US$ and there was even a trend 
that was slightly downward. 

As of the end of the first semester, the dollar kept its 
stability, quoting in average at 5,640 PYG/US$. This 
stability was possible due to the entry of dollars for 
the agricultural products. In the retail market, quoting 
started July at 5,580 and ended at 5,520 PYG/US$. Then, 
in August, the dollar was seen as stable, opening at 
5,520 PYG/US$ and closing at 5,500 PYG/US$. In said 
month, the dollar reached the lower levels of the year, 
quoting at 5,480 PYG/US$. In September and October, 
the average of quoting for the dollar was 5,550 PYG/

US$, reaching levels of 5,710 PYG/US$ in the latter. As 
of the end of October and the start of November, the 
dollar started to go up slightly with an upward trend, 
which is characteristic of the time of the year when 
companies make payments to their providers so they 
demand the American currency and it pressures it to 
quote around 5,740 PYG/US$ hitting a ceiling in the 
latter month of 5,830 PYG/US$. In December, the dollar 
opened at 5,840 PYG/US$ and it is currently dropping 
and quoting at 5,740 PYG/US$. It must be reminded that, 
even though the increase in the interest rate of the FED 
in the last year impacts quoting, it did not generate a 
significant change in the price of the American currency 
locally.

In the period between January and November, the 
Central Bank of Paraguay carried out net sales for a 
total of US$ 399.6 million in the financial market to 
reduce high and low peaks, considering the volatility of 
the exchange rate. In November, interventions added 
up to a total of US$ 124.4 million, explained by the 
previously mentioned factors. 

IMPORTS

EXCHANGE RATES
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MONETARY 
In December, inflation was 0.6%, closing 2016 in 
3.9%, higher than the 3.1% of 2015, but also below 
the inflation target of the year (4.5%). This success 
in the management of monetary policy has been  
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uninterrupted (compliance with the central objective of 
inflation at consumer’s level) since the implementation 
of the scheme of explicit inflation targets as strategy for 
monetary policy in September, 2011.

The Central Bank of Paraguay (BCP, for its 
Spanish initials) raised its reference interest rate 
from 5.75 to 6% in January of 2016, after 6 months 
of a growing trend of underlying inflation. The 
referential interest rate was kept as such until, in 
May, the BCP decided to reduce its reference rate 
from 6 to 5.75% and in July, to 5.5%, after seeing 
a decrease in the pressure to internal prices in 
line with more stability of the nominal exchange 
rate. At the end of December, the BCP decided 
to maintain its monetary policy rate unchanged, 
so the last one set in July remains. To sum it up, 
the deceleration of inflation and the stability in 
the foreign currency market allowed the BCP to 
perform subsequent reduction of interest rates 
with an accommodating monetary policy. 

However, the impact of this higher liquidity in the 
dynamic of banking credit was not seen due to 
modest private consumption and the lack of new 
investment projects, both in agribusiness and 
related industries. 

Analyzing the demand of money, as of November, 
the balance of M1 (bills and coins in circulation 
plus demand deposits) was PYG 22.8 trillion, 
which equals an expansion of 8% compared to 
November of 2015. In the last months of the year, 
the demand for money tends to increase due to 
the characteristic dynamism of several sectors of 
the economy, as economic agents demand more 
money to face their commitments. 

As for the Letters of Monetary Regulation, an 
instrument used by the BCP to control inflation 
and achieve the proposed goal in their inflation 
target, it ended November with a balance of PYG 
7.3 trillion. Comparing 2015 and 2016, considering 
the January-November period, in the first year 

mentioned, the BCP placed PYG 6.0 trillion in 
letters in the market and in the second year, it 
placed PYG 11.5 trillion, which implies a growth 
by more than 92% in a same period. This is due to 
a lower demand of credits, whereby the financial 
sector, seeing the uncertainty of economic agents 
or fewer agents who are subject to credit, prefers to 
place its funds in the BCP to a lower rate than that 
of the market but with an almost null risk.

FINANCIAL
As of the end of 2016, the volume of banking credit 
registered a marginal growth of 0.5%, consolidated 
in national currency, with a growth of 5% in the 
portfolio in Guaranies, and a retraction of 3.6% in 
the portfolio in foreign currency. 

This evolution represents a notorious deceleration, 
particularly if considered that in the period between 
2004 and 2016, the annual nominal growth of the 
credit portfolio, consolidated in Guaranies, was 
approximately 25%. 

As for consolidated banking deposits in Guaranies, 
there was an increase by 5.5%. Deposits in national 
currency increased 8.5% and in foreign currency, 
2.8%. 

The drop of the banking credit dynamism was 
mainly due to a modest evolution of private 
consumption, as mentioned at the beginning of the 
report, and a modest performance of traditional 
sectors with demands of banking funding, such as 
agriculture, commerce, consumption and services. 
The solvency has been kept relatively stable during 
2016 with average levels of 18% and profitability 
has been moderately reduced to 23% in average. 

   

MONETARY AND FINANCIAL SECTOR
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Seeing the defaulting in the financial system, in 
the last semester, it was kept at 3.4% in average. 
In November, said indicator for banks was placed 
at 3.2% and for financial institutions, at 6.1% and 
for the latter, the rate has been dropping since July. 
Compared to November 2015, both institutions had 
increases in the defaulting portfolio. The past-due 
credits portfolio represents 3% of the total portfolio. 
Allowances on the total portfolio as of November are 
3.5%, implying a slight increase in allowances from 
November of the previous year. Finally, defaulting had 
a slight increase compared to 2015, ending the year 
with an average of 2.8%. 

As for liquidity indicators, we can verify high levels 
that have not changed in the last 5 years. This is due 
to the aforementioned on the limited placement of 
credits in the market. The ratio between Cash and 
cash equivalents and Deposits ended November at 
41.8% and Cash and cash equivalents and Liabilities, 
at 33.8%.
 

The ratios of profitability as of November are slightly 
lower than December 2015 and significantly lower 
than the good results obtained by banks in previous 
years; the ratio between Revenue and Assets (ROA) 
closed at 2.18% and Revenue and Shareholders’ 
Equity (ROE) at 23.9%. 

Active interest rates in local currency as of October 
were at 17.7% in weighted average, a slight increase 
compared to October 2015 and lower than September. 
As for passive rates, they were at 12.1% in weighted 
average. And among the instruments that contain the 
passive rate, the certificates of savings deposits can 
be highlighted, as the rate was placed at 9.2%. 

As for foreign currency, active rates in October closed 
at 9%, a slight increase in inter-annual terms and an 
increase of 25 basis points compared to September 
of this year. Passive rates were at 2.5%, undergoing a 
negative variation compared to October 2015. 
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Solvency has been kept relatively stable in 2016 with 
average levels at 18% and profitability has been 
moderately reduced at 23% in average. 

The levels of capital and liquidity of the banking 
system reflect comfortably wide indicators to 
efficiently respond to an increase of the demand 
of credits expected for 2017, promoted by a slight 
recovery of consumption, and investments in the 
sector of public and private constructions. 

 

The nominal exchange rate has reflected a slight 
depreciation in the last weeks, following the 
evolution of the Brazilian real although with some 
delay, which has been depreciated abruptly after the 
election in the U.S. Several factors will influence in 
the evolution of this exchange rate: (i) productivity 
and exports of agribusiness in the 2016/7 campaign 
and prices of agricultural commodities, (ii) external 
influences arising from regional currencies (Real 
and Argentine peso), (iii) rhythm of interventions 

of the BCP in the local market, (iv) rhythm of 
normalization of the monetary policy of the U.S., (v) 
evolution of the interest rate of the BCP, (vi) influence 
of adjustments of SELIC in Brazil, which kept 
appreciating in the later months, so the expectation 
of it implies lower inflationary pressures in the short 
term. However, the uncertainty is maintained with 
respect to the adjustment of rates by the Fed and its 
potential effect in the exchange rate. 

Geopolitical risks: there is still uncertainty over the 
full implementation of the electoral premises in the 
economic policy of Trump. Positive aspects of certain 
measures can be inhibited by others, so their impact 
over the strength of the dollar is still not clear. Europe, 
on the other hand, is still with a modest rhythm of 
economic activity but facing growing anti-European 
challenges that may have institutional impact. 

From 2017, the measures of inflation will be placed 
near the mid-term goal of inflation, so the regional 
scenario and internal political nuisance may inhibit 
the recovery of the aggregated demand, particularly in 
the local private sector and direct foreign investments, 
reducing effectiveness and diminishing the space for 
the stimulus of an accommodating monetary policy. 

INFLUENCE ON MONETARY 
AND EXCHANGE POLICY
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4.2. EVOLUTION OF MAIN MANAGEMENT INDICA-
TORS OF BANCO REGIONAL

As of December 31 of 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

In millions of Guaranies 

As of the End of the Year

Assets 9,214,818 11,984,800 13,712,004 15,306,558 15,033,346

Loans 6,656,769 8,087,198 9,707,664 11,787,765 10,922,572

Deposits* 6,853,675 8,830,002 9,339,094 10,211,720 10,016,303

Shareholders’ Equity 826,609 928,460 1,090,253 1,259,462 1,455,724

Income 141,137 150,679 134,656 211,454 236,020

Buffer 1,066,258 2,125,078 2,078,136 2,102,487 2,577,007

Number of Branches** 39 39 40 38 37

Number of Employees 679 685 711 689 692

Indicators

Return on Equity (ROE) 22.19% 20.36% 15.01% 21.93% 21.24%

Return on Assets (ROA) 1.65% 1.32% 1.05% 1.50% 1.72%

Financial Margin 411,921 442,099 486,533 651,214 702,163

Allowances -79,561 -75,293 -93,782 -177,110 -197,145

Coverage of Allowances on Past-due Portfolio 115.50% 119.26% 100.01% 122.35% 117.16%

Shareholders’ Equity as Percentage of Assets 8.97% 7.75% 7.95% 8.23% 9.68%

Efficiency 55.74% 56.89% 59.80% 47.64% 46.31%

Defaults 2.48% 2.47% 2.20% 2.36% 2.18%

Market Share

Deposits 15.85% 15.53% 16.23% 14.80% 12.82%

Loans 17.45% 17.07% 17.02% 16.69% 15.46%

Assets 15.25% 15.75% 15.34% 14.43% 13.75%

Shareholders’ Equity 11.89% 11.59% 11.31% 11.42% 11.99%

Paid-Up Capital 16.25% 15.61% 17.13% 16.23% 16.92%

Number of Banks in the Financial System (units) 15 16 16 16 17

Exchange Rate (PYG per US$) 4224 4585 4629 5807 5767

*Not including accrued interests

**Customer Service Branches

4.2.1. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

A) EVOLUTION OF ASSETS

B) FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Investments

Exchange Rate US$ 5,767

Exchange Rate Euros 6,034

Composition of the Portfolio in Guaranies – Balances in PYG

Treasury Bonds 240,022,764,393
Fixed-term deposits in Other Institutions 21,767,899,891
Letters of Monetary Regulation 566,198,231,781

Composition of the Portfolio in Dollars – Balances in USD

Fixed-term deposits in Other Institutions 3,444,985

dec-2012 dec-2013

30.06%

14.41%
11.63%

63.14%

-1.78%

dec-2014 dec-2015 dec-2016

11,984,800 

9,214,818 

13,712,004

15,306,558 15,033,346  

Exchange Rate US$ 4,224  4,585  4,629  5,807  5,767  
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C) EVOLUTION OF DEPOSITS

Distribution of the Deposit 
Portfolio per Term

Distribution of the Deposit 
Portfolio per Currency

 Demand 47%  PYG 42%
 Term 53%  USD 58%

Exchange Rate US$ 4,224 4,585 4,629 5,807 5,767  

*Not including accrued interests. 
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28.84%

5.77%

9.34%

46.14%

-1.91%

8,830,002

6,853,675

9,339,094

10,211,720 
10,016,303

dec-2012 dec-2013 dec-2014 dec-2015 dec-2016

Distribution of the Loan 
Portfolio per Currency

Distribution of the Loan Portfolio 
per Sub-Banking

 PYG 33%  Companies 16%
 Individuals 5%

 Private1%
 SMEs 3%

 USD 67%  Corporate 75%

D) EVOLUTION OF LOANS

dec-2012 dec-2013 dec-2014 dec-2015 dec-2016

Exchange Rate US$ 4,224 4,585 4,629 5,807 5,767  
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21.49%

20.04%

21.43%

64.08%

-7.34%

 8,087,198 

6,656,769

9,707,664 

11,787,765 
10,922,572 
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E) EVOLUTION OF DEFAULTS

F) COVERAGE OF ALLOWANCES AND CALCULABLE GUARANTEES

dec-2012

dec-2012

Banking System

% of Calculable Guarantees on Loans

Banco Regional

Allowances on Past-due Portfolio

dec-2013

dec-2013

2.09% 2.01%

2.48%

115.50%

40.59% 41.24% 45.93% 52.47%

115.09%
100.01%

122.35%
117.16%

55.43%

2.47%

2.20%

1.84%

2.47%

2.80%

2.36%
2.18%

dec-2014

dec-2014

dec-2015

dec-2015

dec-2016

dec-2016

(*) Data extracted from the Center of Information of the Superintendency of Banks

(**) Not including total loan portfolio. 

v

Distribution of the Loan Portfolio per Sector

 Agricultural harvest in general 34%
 Wholesale trade 25%
 Animal farming11%
 Manufacturing industries 10%
 Retail trade 8%
 Consumption 5%
 Services 3%
 Housing 2%
 Construction 2%

G) EVOLUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

H) LEVELS OF SOLVENCY

dec-2012

dec-2012

Effective Equity

Patrimonio Efectivo

TIER I

TIER II

dec-2013

dec-2013

12.24%

14.16%

11.85%

13.47%

12.82%

13.69%

Minimum required 8% (---)

Minimum required 12% (---)

11.00%

13.19%

13.82%

17.32%

dec-2014

dec-2014

dec-2015

dec-2015

dec-2016

dec-2016

843,390

843,390

947,564

947,564

1,113,966

1,113,966

1,216,216

1,216,216

1,483,346

1,483,346

TIER I

TIER II

dec-2012 dec-2013

12.32%

17.43%
15.52%

76.11%

15.58%

dec-2014 dec-2015 dec-2016

1,455,724 

1,259,462 
1,090,253

928,460 
826,609

Paid-Up Capital
Reserves and Results

Exchange Rate US$ 4,224 4,585 4,629 5,807 5,767  
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I) EVOLUTION OF THE RESULTS

dec-2012 dec-2013

6.76%
-10.63%

57.03%

67.23%

11.62%

dec-2014 dec-2015 dec-2016

150,679 
141,137 134,656

211,454 

 236,020 

Exchange Rate US$ 4,224 4,585 4,629 5,807 5,767  

J) PROFITABILITY AND EFFICIENCY

dec-2012

dec-2012

dec-2013

dec-2013

22.19%

55.74%

55.20% 54.31%
52.77% 

48.85% 50.06%

56.89% 59.80%

47.64% 46.31%

1.65%

20.36%

1.32%

15.01%

1.05%

21.93%

1.50%

21.24%

1.72%

dec-2014

dec-2014

dec-2015

dec-2015

dec-2016

dec-2016

ROE - ROA

Efficiency

ROA

System

ROE

Regional

4.3 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4.3.1. BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year 
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)

ASSETS  Note DECEMBER 31, 2016 DECEMBER 31, 2015

CASH AND BANKS

Cash   311,292,848,401  302,170,670,798 

Central Bank of Paraguay  c.3  1,878,592,130,533  1,836,895,255,696 

Other financial institutions  483,952,906,043  362,159,611,533 

Checks and other documents to be cleared  94,516,345,270  71,029,853,604 

Accrued interests  1,167,996,498  869,153,340 

Allowances  c.7  (3,082,878)  (2,750,353)

 2,769,519,143,867  2,573,121,794,618 

GOVERNMENT AND PRIVATE SECURITIES c.4  951,701,160,424 776,056,377,822

PERFORMING LOANS FINANCIAL SECTOR

Other financial institutions  474,057,018,148  569,072,540,268 

Transactions to be settled  c.18  106,436,255,790  -   

Loans for overdrafts  5,983,134  -   

Accrued interests  6,430,962,545  12,574,291,630 

Allowances  c.7  (78,824,666)  (902,883,770)

 c.6.1 586,851,394,951 580,743,948,128

PERFORMING LOANS NONFINANCIAL SECTOR

Loans to private sector  9,980,267,600,078  10,741,113,748,534 

Receivables from deferred letters of credit  129,057,260,831  118,282,475,861 

Transactions to be settled  c.18  41,446,866,640  52,072,144,854 

Loans to government sector  19,736,800,859  10,127,381,717 

Unrealized valuation earnings  (7,371,657,027)  (4,042,402,700)

Accrued interests  200,558,816,697  231,178,401,734 

Allowances  c.7  (177,913,081,221)  (180,192,370,436)

c.6.2 10,185,782,606,857 10,968,539,379,564

OTHER RECEIVABLES   c.6.4  72,588,514,569  68,314,737,164 

NONPERFORMING LOANS FINANCIAL

Loans to nonfinancial sector  194,051,695,975  262,772,736,620 

Loans to government sector  32,238,564,112  1,672,119,884 

Unrealized valuation earnings  (3,891,500,844)  (6,322,268,830)

Accrued interests  11,319,026,332  13,210,407,955 

Allowances  c.7  (100,391,975,349)  (158,612,502,451)

 c.6.3 133,325,810,226 112,720,493,178

INVESTMENTS

Private securities  c.8  18,913,888,872  6,693,888,916 

Assets acquired in credit recovery  c.8  249,932,949,725  149,480,777,719 

Other investments  3,748,504  3,774,491 

Incomes from investments in the private sector  535,890,438  1 

Allowances  c.7  (10,130,439,984)  (8,769,240,392)

 c.8 259,256,037,555 147,409,200,735

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT c.9  67,120,977,524  70,888,661,398 

DEFERRED CHARGES c.10  7,200,172,180  8,763,048,641 

TOTAL ASSETS 15,033,345,818,153 15,306,557,641,248

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.
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LIABILITIES  Note DECEMBER 31, 2016 DECEMBER 31, 2015

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - FINANCIAL SECTOR

Central Bank of Paraguay  12,145,866,538  12,367,153,185 

Deposits from other banks c.15.1  501,632,615,407  448,103,649,492 

Correspondents - deferred letters of credit  126,203,320,379  117,167,200,727 

Loans from financial institutions  1,101,491,728,879  1,523,465,457,095 

ATM outstanding operations  3,654,364,771  20,113,694,988 

Bonds issued abroad c.11.b)  1,730,079,000,000  1,742,073,000,000 

Transactions to be settled c.18  113,522,360,949  5 

Accrued interests  78,037,769,654  78,913,528,072 

c.14 3,666,767,026,577 3,942,203,683,564

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES -  NONFINANCIAL SECTOR

Deposits - Private Sector c.15.1  8,192,626,539,516  8,346,150,838,966 

Deposits - Public Sector c.15.1  1,322,043,861,101  1,417,465,420,401 

Other obligations  51,158,318,703  57,258,095,720 

Debentures and bonds issued outstanding c.11.a)  158,844,893,440  71,486,067,980 

Transactions to be settled c.18  41,326,314,055  52,559,226,882 

Accrued interests  73,389,329,736  91,091,891,005 

 c.14 9,839,389,256,551 10,036,011,540,954

OTHER LIABILITIES c.17  39,182,748,805  43,702,621,002 

ACCRUALS  32,283,031,612  25,178,018,986 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 13,577,622,063,545  14,047,095,864,506 

EQUITY

Capital b.5  908,028,700,000  784,946,400,000 

Shares of common stock  658,028,700,000 534,946,400,000

Shares of preferred stock c.12 f  250,000,000,000  250,000,000,000 

Non-Capitalized Contributions  17,339,360,000  17,339,360,000 

Revaluation reserve  36,273,953,795  33,635,469,877 

Legal reserve  258,061,562,370  212,086,410,559 

Profit for the year  236,020,178,443  211,454,136,306 

TOTAL EQUITY D 1,455,723,754,608 1,259,461,776,742

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 15,033,345,818,153 15,306,557,641,248

CONTINGENCY AND MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS

 Total contingencies accounts E 777.280.392.459  936.306.695.566  

 Total memorandum accounts E 13.737.282.556.619  14.217.268.648.602  

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

4.3.2. STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED  DECEMBER 31, 2016
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year  
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)     
      

 Note DECEMBER 31, 2016 DECEMBER 31, 2015

FINANCIAL INCOME

From performing loans - Financial sector  106,194.871,896  114,890,551,394 

From performing loans - Nonfinancial sector  1,131,526,140,633  1,046,297,285,492 

From nonperforming loans  26,425,674,436  19,459,584,644 

From listed price differences of government securities  28,453,761,244  37,650,655,843 

1,292,600,448,209 1,218,298,077,373

FINANCIAL EXPENSES

From financial liabilities - Financial sector  (95,851,450,104)  (91,024,585,096)

From financial liabilities - Nonfinancial sector  (494,586,158,965)  (476,059,814,232)

From valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreign currency  f.2  (6,791,027,467)  (2,408,039,227)

 (597,228,636,536) (569,492,438,555)

 FINANCIAL INCOME BEFORE ALLOWANCES  695,371,811,673  648,805,638,818

ALLOWANCES 

Additions  c.7  (873,696,717,545)  (679,962,671,127)

Reversals  c.7  676,551,501,024  502,853,085,550 

(197,145,216,521) (177,109,585,577)

FINANCIAL PROFIT AFTER ALLOWANCES 498,226,595,152 471,696,053,241

NET INCOME FROM SERVICES

Income from services  144,330,506,895  136,896,629,074 

Expenses from services  (30,795,228,695)  (28,572,262,064)

113,535,278,200 108,324,367,010

GROSS PROFIT 611,761,873,352 580,020,420,251

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

Gain for exchange and arbitrage operations  33,819,489,192  35,975,637,895 

Gain from other receivables  -    69,886 

Other income  1,828,147,846  1,927,621,175 

Valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreign currency - Net f.2  3,076,622,101  -   

38,724,259,139 37,903,328,956

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and social securities  (202,165,555,217)  (185,492,069,890)

General Expenses  (150,255,795,280)  (145,189,773,571)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment c.9  (13,668,763,234)  (13,870,672,641)

Amortization of deferred charges  (2,974,827,719)  (4,560,476,909)

Others  (26,591,498,123)  (25,366,786,489)

Valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreign currency  - net f.2  -    (14,433,328,664)

(395,656,439,573) (388,913,108,164)

NET OPERATING PROFIT 254,829,692,918 229,010,641,043

EXTRAORDINARY GAINS AND LOSSES

Extraordinary Gains  15,495,465,473  5,267,400,785 

Extraordinary Losses  (11,752,886,229)  (3,992,008,222)

 3,742,579,244  1,275,392,563 

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

Gains  3,110,687,560  394,638,738 

Losses  (2,583,263,331)  (804,913,290)

d.3 527,424,229 (410,274,552)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX 259,099,696,391 229,875,759,054

  Income Tax  f.4  (23,079,517,948)  (18,421,622,748)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 236,020,178,443 211,454,136,306

4.3.1. BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 
Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year 
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)

V 
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Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

4.3.3. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR
THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year 
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)      

Concept

Capital
Non-

capitalized 
contributions

Revaluation 
reserve Legal reserve Retained 

earnings
Profit (Loss) 
for the year TotalShares of 

common stock
Shares of 

preferred stock

Balance as of 
December 31, 2014 437,455,800,000 250,000,000,000 53,365,960,000 31,376,860,951 183,398,002,207  -   134,655,959,145 1,090,252,582,303

plus (minus): - 

Transfer of prior year 
results  -  -  -  -  -  134,655,959,145  (134,655,959,145)  - 

Capitalization of 
earnings  61,464,000.000  -  -  -  -  (61,464,000,000)  -  - 

Capitalization of 
contributions  13,405,700.000  -  (13,405,700,000)  -  -  -  -  - 

Capitalization of issue 
premium  22,620,900,000  -  (22,620,900,000)  -  -  -  -  - 

Constitution of legal 
reserve  -  -  -  -  28,688,408,352  (28,688,408,352)  -  - 

Cash dividends - 
preferred shares  -  -  -  -  -  (40,000,000,000)  -  (40,000,000,000)

Cash dividends - 
common shares  -  -  -  -  -  (4,503,550,793)  -  (4,503,550,793)

Revaluation of 
property, plant and 
equipment  -  -  -  2,258,608,926  -  -  -  2,258,608,926 

Profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  211,454,136,306  211,454,136,306 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2015 534,946,400,000 250,000,000,000 17,339,360,000 33,635,469,877 212,086,410,559 0 211,454,13,306 1,259,461,776,742

plus (minus):

Transfer of prior year 
results  -    -    -    -    -    211.454.136.306  (211.454.136.306)  -   

Capitalization of 
earnings  123,082,300,000  -    -    -    -    (123,082,300,000)  -    -   

Constitution of legal 
reserve  -    -    -    -    45,975,151,811  (45,975,151,811)  -    -   

Cash dividends - 
preferred shares  -    -    -    -    -    (40,000,000,000)  -    (40,000,000,000)

Cash dividends - 
common shares  -    -    -    -    -    (2,396,684,495)  -    (2,396,684,495)

Revaluation of 
property, plant and 
equipment  -    -    -    2,638,483,918  -    -    -    2,638,483,918 

Profit for the year  -    -    -    -    -    -    236,020,178,443  236,020,178,443 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2016  658,028,700,000  250,000,000,000  17,339,360,000  36,273,953,795  258,061,562,370  -  236,020,178,443  1,455,723,754,608 

 

Attached notes from A to G, are part of the financial statements herein.

4.3.4. CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Presented for comparative purposes whit the financial statements of prior year
(Amounts expressed in Paraguayan guaraníes)        

 Nota DECEMBER 31, 2016 DECEMBER 31, 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  236,020,178,443  211,454,136,306 

PLUS EXPENSES NOT INVOLVING USE OF CASH

Depreciation of property, plant and quipment  13,668,763,234  13,870,672,641 

Amortization of deferred charges  2,974,827,719  4,560,476,909 

Increase in allowances c.7  873,696,717,545  679,962,671,127 

Accrual for income taxes f.4  23,079,517,948  18,421,622,748 

Accrued interests unpaid  151,427,099,390  170,005,419,077 

Valuation of foreign currency accounts  -    16,841,367,891 

Net value of disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,305,680,927  906,289,830 

  1,067,152,606,763  904,568,520,223 

LESS INCOME NOT INVOLVING CASH INFLOW

Effect of the valuation of accounts in foreign currency  (11,060,498,391)  -   

Bancard dividend capitalization  (2,975,319,731)  -   

Reversal of allowances c.7  (676,551,501,024)  (502,853,085,550)

Accrued interests not collected  (258,856,320,084)  (299,169,385,807)

 (949,443,639,230)  (802,022,471,357)

Net decrease of loans  700,236,680,823  557,651,905,485 

Net decrease (increase) in other receivables  19,539,364,654  (9,525,553,750)

Net (decrease) increase in financial liabilities  (638,983,419,430)  (741,164,179,897)

Net (decrease) increase in other liabilities  (4,727,570,405)  (24,621,768,335)

Net decrease in accruals  (12,241,559,358)  (7,245,129,074)

Income tax paid  (21,750,681,556)  (8,786,082,612)

 42,072,814,728  (233,690,808,183)

Net cash flows generated by operating activities  395,801,960,704  80,309,376,989 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net (increase) decrease in government securities  (137,608,328,219)  313,028,742,883 

Net increase in investments  (8,419,371,114)  (115,157,948,468)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (9,568,276,369)  (9,821,932,321)

Net increase of deferred charges  (1,411,951,258)  (1,581,422,993)

Cash (used in) generated by investing activities  (157,007,926,960)  186,467,439,101 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of dividends  (42,396,684,495)  (44,503,550,793)

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (42,396,684,495)  (44,503,550,793)

Net increase in cash  196,397,349,249  222,273,265,297 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  2,573,121,794,618  2,350,848,529,321 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  2,769,519,143,867  2,573,121,794,618 
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4.3.5. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2016

Presented for comparative purposes with the financial prior year
(Figures stated in Paraguayan guaranies)

A. CONSIDERATION BY THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING AND PURPOSE OF 
PREPARATION OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. (hereinafter referred as Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. or “the 
Entity” or “the Bank”) at December 31, 2016 will be considered by the General Assembly of Shareholders to be held 
in 2017, within the period specified in the Bylaws and Article 1079 of the Civil Code.
The financial statements of the Bank at December 31, 2015 were approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 
held on April 29, 2016.

B. BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT THE BANK

b.1 Legal status

Banco Regional Sociedad Anónima Emisora de Capital Abierto began under the name of Banco Regional S.A. de 
Inversión y Fomento, authorized by Decree of the Executive Power No. 4321 dated January 8, 1990, and by the 
Central Bank of Paraguay (hereinafter referred as “Central Bank of Paraguay” or “BCP”) through Resolution No. 5, 
Record No. 11 dated February 13, 1991.

Through Resolution No. 3, Record No. 214, dated December 1, 1998, the Board of Directors of the Central Bank 
of Paraguay authorized Banco Regional S.A. de Inversión y Fomento to amend its Bylaws, as decided by Special 
Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 24, 1998, to change its original name to Banco Regional S.A.

Through Resolution No. 1, Record No. 96, dated November 19, 2008, the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay authorized Banco Regional S.A. to amend its Bylaws, as decided by Special Shareholders’ Meeting held 
on September 30, 2008, to change its previous business name to Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. The amendment was 
registered with the Public Registries on November 21, 2008, and with the CNV (Paraguayan securities commission) 
on such bank December 4, 2008, through CNV Resolution No. 1156/08.

On April 22, 2009, the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A. was completed, with 
the purpose of integrate by merging such bank into Banco Regional SAECA. On September 3, 2009, the final 
merger agreement involving Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A. was performed. On September 4, 2009, the Special 
Shareholders’ Meeting of Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. was held, during which the merger agreement between both 
banks was officially approved. In view of this process, Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A., as the controlling Entity, assumes 
all rights and obligations of the acquired entity.

At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank had 37 branches.

b.2  Basis of preparation of the financial statements.

The financial statements are a free translation into English of those originally prepared in Spanish, expressed in 
local currency (Guaranies or PYG). 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting standards and specific instructions 
issued by the Central Bank of Paraguay and, on aspects not covered by them, in accordance with applicable 
financial reporting standards in the country, issued by the Public Accountants Council of Paraguay.

The accounting model is based on a conventional basis of historical cost, except for property, plant and equipment 
that are exposed to their revalued amounts, as explained in note c.9 and the treatment assigned to monetary assets 

and liabilities in foreign currency, as explained in note c.1, and do not recognize the overall effects of inflation on 
the financial position of the institution, or the results of its operations. According to the Consumer Price Index 
published by the Central Bank of Paraguay, inflation for the year ended on December 31, 2016 and 2015 was 3.9% 
and 3.1% respectively.

The accounting rules set by the Central Bank of Paraguay differ from the existing standards of financial reporting in 
Paraguay, mainly in the following aspects:

a) They do not require the issuance of the statement of cash flows and the comparative financial statements.

b) The adjustments to accumulated results are recorded as income (expense) for the year without affecting the 
Bank’s net equity accounts.

c) The accounting record of the deferred tax is not contemplated.

d) Earnings per share do not need to be calculated or disclosed.

e) There are specific criteria for the classification and valuation of the loan portfolio, the accrual recognition of 
interest and gains from valuation is suspended, as mentioned in note c.6.

f) Banks are required to set allowances for loan losses, allowances for contingent risks and assets in general 
based on the parameters set forth in Resolution 1, Record No. 60, of the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments.

g) No disclosure is required of PP&E movements.

h) No disclosure is required of the concentration of liabilities by numbers of depositors.

i) No disclosure is required of the average interest rates or of the average assets and liabilities that have accrued 
interest.

j) No opening movement of deferred charges is required.

k) No disclosure of the base is required to identify the general risks of the banking industry and the accounting 
treatment of such risks, and

l) Permanent investments in shares of other companies are valued at cost and,

m) Allows accounting treatments for specific situations or circumstances approved by the Superintendency of 
Banks.

Disclosure and / or quantification of these differences are not required by the Central Bank of Paraguay.

The preparation of these financial statements requires that the Board of Directors and Management of the Bank 
make certain estimates and assumptions that affect asset and liability balances, the disclosures of contingencies 
and the recognition of income and expenses. Assets and liabilities are recognized in the financial statements when 
it is likely that future economic benefits will flow to or from the Bank and the different items have a cost or value 
that can be reliably measured. If in the future these estimates and assumptions, which are based on Management’s 
best judgment as of the date of these financial statements, change with regard to the current circumstances, 
the original estimates and assumptions will be appropriately amended on the date on which those changes take 
place. The main estimates related to the financial statements refer to the allowances for doubtful accounts, PP&E 
depreciations, the amortization of deferred charges and allowances to cover other contingencies.

b.3  Foreign branches

The Bank has no foreign branches.
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December 31, 2016 

Common, suscribed and paid in shares
Votes per share PYG

Type Number

Founders Class “A” common shares  135,809  5  13,580,900,000 

Common Class “A” common shares  3,927,116  1  392,711,600,000 

Multiple Class “B” common shares  90,539  5  9,053,900,000 

Common Class “B” common shares  2,426,823  1  242,682,300,000 

Preferred shares  2,500,000  -  250,000,000,000 

 9,080,287  908,028,700,000 

December 31, 2015

Common, suscribed and paid in shares
Votes per share PYG

Type Number

Founders Class “A” common shares  135,809  5  13,580,900,000 

Common Class “A” common shares  3,174,585  1  317,458,500,000 

Multiple Class “B” common shares  90,539  5  9,053,900,000 

Common Class “B” common shares  1,948,531  1  194,853,100,000 

Preferred shares  2,500,000  -  250,000,000,000 

 7,849,464  784,946,400,000 

b.4  Shareholdings in other companies

Interest in capital stock in other companies at December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

The abovementioned investments are recorded in the “Investments in securities issued by the private sector”. 
See note c.8. 

b.5  Capital structure and characteristics of the shares

The paid in capital at December 31, 2016 and 2015, by type of share, is as follows:

Company Name Condition Currency  Face value  % equity interest  Carrying value in PYG 

December 31, 2016

Bancard S.A. - Paraguay Affiliate  Gs.  7,995,000,000 6.67%  8,802,846,968 

VISA INC - USA Non-Affiliate  US$  1 Minority  6,344 

SWIFT Non-Affiliate  EUR  19,800 Minority  111,035,560 

Total  8,913,888,872 

December 31, 2015

Bancard S.A. - Paraguay Affiliate  Gs.  5,775,000,000 6.67%  6,582,846,968 

VISA INC - USA Non-Affiliate  US$  1 Minority  6,388 

SWIFT Non-Affiliate  EUR  19,800 Minority  111,035,560 

Total  6,693,888,916 

As of December 31, 2016

Shareholders Shares PYG % Share % Of votes Country

Rabo Development B.V. (*)  351,736,200,000 38.74% 38.47% Netherlands

Other resident minority shareholders  556,292,500,000 61.26% 61.53% Paraguay

Total  908,028,700,000 100.00% 100.00%

(*) 100% owned by Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. from Netherlands.

Board of Directors Executive Officers

President Raúl Vera Bogado General Manager Eugenio Oze de Morvil

Vice-president Cornelis J. Beijer C.O.O. Matheus den Exter

Branch and Bussines Intelligence Manager Justin Van Der Sluis

Directors Alfredo Ricardo Raatz Corporative Banking Manager Walter Duarte Kallus

Petrus van Jaarsveld Finance Manager Oscar Godoy Silvero

Wolfgang Brönstrup Internal Audit Manager Juan Carlos Meza

Alternate directors Irene Memmel de Matiauda Compliance Manager Antonio Gimenez

Erik Heyl Corporate Risk Manager and Bussines Jorge Sienkawiec

Francisco Yanagida Manager Risk Individual and SME's Mats Hernegard

Adrian Lorenzutti Branch Manager Cynthia Sotelo

Mirian Raatz de Soley Private Banking Manager Anahi Heisecke

Treasury Manager Daniel Cibils

Syndic Roland Wolff Correspondent and Foreing Trade Manager María Fernanda Carrón

Alternate Syndic Sandra Yshizuka Human Resources Manager Katya Spiridonoff

Operations Manager Isabel Galiano 

Legal Affairs Manager Marcos Dalla Fontana

Information Technology Manager Mirtha González

Administrative Manager Fabio Sitzmann Hein

Data Quality Manager Erica Werner

Notarized Leticia Pérez 
Domínguez

General Accountant Francisco Furman S.

The shareholder structure is as follows:

As mentioned in note c.12 d), “Monetary correction of capital stock”, the Bank’s current level of paid in capital is 
above the legal minimum required by the Central Bank of Paraguay for this fiscal year.

 b.6 Board of Directors and Executive Officers

At December 31, 2016, the Board of Directors and Executive Officers are as follows: 

As of December 31, 2015

Shareholders Shares PYG % Share % Of votes Country

Rabo Development B.V. (*)  303,907,000,000 38.72% 38.39% Netherlands

Other resident minority shareholders  481,039,400,000 61.28% 61.61% Paraguay

Total  784,946,400,000 100.00% 100.00%

(*) 100% owned by Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. from Netherlands.

b.7  English translation of statutory financial statements

These financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of English-speaking readers. The 
financial statements are the English translation of those originally prepared by the Entity in Spanish, expressed 
in local currency (Guaranies) and presented in accordance with accounting rules, regulations and instructions 
established by the Central Bank of Paraguay and, in issues not covered by them, with the financial reporting 
standards in force in Paraguay. The effects of the differences between these standards and the accounting 
principles generally accepted in the countries in which the financial statements are to be used have not been 
quantified. Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements are not intended to present the financial position, 
results of operations, shareholders’ equity or cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the countries of users of the financial statements, other than Paraguay.
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C. INFORMATION REGARDING MAIN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

c.1 Valuation of foreign currency

The assets and liabilities stated in foreign currency are valued at the exchange rates prevailing at December 31, 
2016 and 2015 respectively, provided by the Foreign Exchange Desk of the International Transactions Department 
at the Central Bank of Paraguay, and do not differ materially from the exchange rates in effect on the free foreign 
exchange market:

Currency Exchange Rate at December 31, 2016 Exchange Rate at December 31, 2015

PYG per foreing currency unit

1 US Dollar  5,766.93  5,806.91 

1 Euro  6,033.94  6,337.08 

1 Yen  49.41  48.16 

1 Real  1,768.78  1,456.10 

1 Argentine Peso  366.54  447.34 

1 Pound Sterling  7,055.84  8,619.20 

1 Swiss Franc  5,626.82  5,869.12 

1 Swedish Krona  631.99  688.97 

1 Chinese Yuan  829.20  894.79 

1 Australian Dollar  4,149.88  4,230.91 

1 Canadian Dollar  4,259.18  4,180.04 

The foreign exchange differences resulting from fluctuations in the exchange rates between the date on which a 
transaction is closed and the date on which it is settled or valued at the end of each period, are recognized in the 
income (loss) for the period, with the exceptions indicated in note f.1.

c.2 Position in foreign currency 

The foreign exchange position at December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

Concept
December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Arbitrated amount 
to USD

Equivalent amount to 
PYG

Arbitrated amount 
to USD

Equivalent amount 
to PYG

Total assets in foreing 
currency  1,564,605,929  9,022,972,872,239  1,647,337,952  9,565,943,228,808 

Total liabilities in foreing 
currency  (1,557,710,509)  (8,983,207,464,850)  (1,647,933,306)  (9,569,400,396,274)

Net position in foreing 
currency  6,895,421  39,765,407,389  (595,354)  (3,457,167,467)

At December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the foreign currency position did not exceed the limit set by the 
Bank position paper presented to the Central Bank of Paraguay, on January 3, 2013, pursuant to Resolution No. 25 
Act No. 77 dated December 28, 2011 which establishes the free choice of position range depending on the category 
established in the Resolution that financial institutions chosen for their net position for each year.

Market risk management:  Market risk is the risk that the changes in market prices, for instance, interest rates, 
changes in foreign currency, etc., will affect the Bank’s equity and/or results depending on the positions taken on 
the financial market. The Bank controls market risk by monitoring the limits established in the Market Risk Policies 
approved by the Assets and Liabilities Committee and the Board of Directors.

c.3 Deposits in the Central Bank of Paraguay

The deposits in the Central Bank of Paraguay at December 31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

Item December 31, 2016 PYG December 31, 2015 PYG

Minimum cash requirement in PYG  410,206,331,375  411,333,165,036 

Minimum cash requirements in USD  921,755,200,812  1,004,850,705,538 

Minimum cash requirement in EUR  10,226,306,729  16,727,059,539 

Special cash requirement in PYG  743,992,078  825,800,000 

Special cash requirement in USD  847,738,710  3,804,149,248 

Monetary Transactions Operations  372,505,000,000  177,251,000,000 

Current accounts in PYG  622,498  44,705 

Current accounts in USD  157,553,445,292  217,065,021,157 

Current accounts EUR  4,753,493,039  5,038,310,473 

Total  1,878,592,130,533  1,836,895,255,696 

See aditionally paragraph a), of note c.12

c.4 Government and private securities

The government and private securities acquired by Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A. comprise Paraguayan Treasury 
Bonds and Monetary Regulations Instruments. The government and private securities at cost value plus 
accrued interest to be collected at December 31, 2016 and 2015 respectively, which does not exceed their 
estimated realizable value.

As of December 31, 2016

Government and private securities Issuance 
currency

Amount in issuance 
currency

Amount in Paraguayan Guaranies

Face value Book value

Paraguayan Treasury Bonds (a) and (b) PYG 271,706,749,744 271,706,749,744 240,022,764,393

Monetary Regulations Instruments (b) PYG 702,000,000,000 702,000,000,000 668,398,231,781

Bonds in Private Companies PYG 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 5,243,709,867

Accrued interest 38,036,454,383

Total 978,706,749,744 951,701,160,424

As of December 31, 2015

Government and private securities Issuance 
currency

Amount in issuance 
currency

Amount in Paraguayan Guaranies

Face value Book value

Paraguayan Treasury Bonds (a) and (b) PYG 386,853,335,994 386,853,335,994 315,024,407,102

Monetary Regulations Instruments (b) PYG 451,280,000,000 451,280,000,000 418,992,098,760

Accrued interest  -    42,039,871,960 

Total 838,133,335,994 776,056,377,822

 a) As December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Bank has granted as guarantee Paraguayan Treasury Bonds 
held in its portafolio at those dates, for a total amount of PYG 2.498.143.073 and PYG 39.650.418.934, respectively, 
therefore its availability is restricted, as mentioned in note c.12b. 

(b) As December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the Bank has granted Paraguayan Treasury Bonds for a total 
amount of PYG 15.070.361.325 and Monetary Regulations Instruments for a total amount of 13.934.411.578, 
respectively, as minimum guarantees required by the BCP, under general regulations of the SIPAP
(See also note c.12.b).
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c.5 Assets and liabilities with adjustment clauses

Except for the loans obtained (liabilities) from the “Agencia Financiera de Desarrollo” and the loans granted (assets) 
with funds obtained from “Agencia Financiera de Desarrollo” and certain loans granted using the Bank’s own funds 
which involve contractual clauses for potential adjustments to the annual interest rates at December 31, 2016 and 
2015 respectively, there were no other assets or liabilities with adjustment clauses.

c.6 Loan portfolio

Management of credit risk: 

Credit risk is controlled by the Bank’s Board of Directors and Management, mainly through the evaluation and 
analysis of individual transactions, for which certain clearly-defined aspects in the Bank’s credit policies are taken 
into consideration, such as: the proven payment ability and indebtedness of the debtors, the credit concentration of 
groups of companies, individual credit-granting limits, evaluation of economic sectors, preferred securities and the 
working capital requirement, depending on the market risks.

Criteria for classification and valuation: 

The loan portfolio has been stated at face value plus accrued interest the end of the year, net of allowances, which 
were calculated according to the Bank’s internal credit valuation policies and the allowances set forth by the 
Central Bank of Paraguay Board of Directors’ in the Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 dated September 28, 2007, and 
subsequent amendments; for which:

a) Debtors have been classified into the following segments: i) Large debtors; ii) Medium and small debtors; iii) 
Personal debtors of consumer or mortgage loans and iv) Microcredits;

b) The debtors have been classified into 6 categories of risk, based on the evaluation and qualification of the 
payment capacity of a debtor or group of related debtors, with respect to all of their obligations. A rule amending 
Resolution No. 1/2007 requires Category 1 disintegrates into three sub-categories for the purpose of determination 
of allowances (1, 1.a y 1.b);

c) Accrued interest on performing loans ranked on category “1” and category “2” according to subjective analysis, 
are recognized as revenue. Accrued interest receivable at the reporting date on nonperforming loans and/or 
performing loans ranked on category “2” and higher, which have been recognized as revenue until its entry into 
arrears, have an allowances that covers the total amount of such accrued interest;

d) The accrual of interest and the recognition of gains from the valuation of nonperforming loans and performing 
loans classified in risk categories “2” or higher since its entry into arrears, have been suspended, and are 
recognized as revenue when are collected, as mentioned in note f.1;

e) Amortized loans are considered nonperforming after 61 days of default on any of their installments, and fixed 
term loans or single maturity loans, on the day after maturity;

f) Specific allowances have been set which are required to cover potential losses that may arise if the portfolio is not 
recovered  according to the criteria and parameters established by Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 September 28, 2007, amendments and all supplemental;

g) Generic allowances have been made of net loan portfolio of specific allowances according to the criteria and 
parameters established by Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 September 
28, 2007, and

h) Bad debts that are written off, under the conditions established in the applicable regulation of the BCP, are 
recorded and reported in memorandum accounts.

c.6.1. Performing loans to the financial sector

According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Banks Regulatory Authority of the 
Central Bank of Paraguay, the Bank’s performing loan portfolio for the financial sector is classified by risk 
as follows: 

As of December 31, 2016

Risk Catergory Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Allowances Book balance after 
allowances

Minimum % (b) Booked (c)

1  584,914,171,240  149,747,349,334 0%  -    584,914,171,240 

2  2,016,048,377  846,824,957 5%  (78,824,666)  1,937,223,711 

Total  586,930,219,617  150,594,174,291  (78,824,666)  586,851,394,951 

As of December 31, 2015

Risk Catergory Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Allowances Book balance after 
allowances

Minimum % (b) Booked (c)

1  547,940,878,393  123,706,921,429 0%  -    547,940,878,393 

2  33,705,953,505  30,563,124,382 5%  (902,883,770)  32,803,069,735 

Total  581,646,831,898  154,270,045,811  (902,883,770)  580,743,948,128 

References:

(a) Includes capital and interest and forward contracts (net of  unrealized valuation earnings);
(b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of allowances 
in the loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution of the Central Bank of 
Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments; and
(c) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have 
computable guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary debt). For 
the rest of debtors, the allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees for the second one.

Concept December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Fixed terms loans, not subject to adjustment  3,247,847,463,005  982,297,804,359 

Installment loans, not subject to adjustment  5,524,965,052,216  7,928,373,007,624 

Checks acquired in Paraguay  976,248,966  792,523,180 

Loans for overdraft  90,697,782,556  143,327,854,224 

Receivables from deferred credit documents  129,057,260,831  118,282,475,861 

Receivables from use of credit cards  149,429,682,055  130,643,072,662 

Loans with managed founds  463,367,765,501  683,365,267,088 

Bills discounted  74,965,710,046  184,848,951,891 

Deferred checks discounted  191,860,860,195  352,195,105,579 

Portfolio purchase  236,157,035,538  335,270,161,927 

Transactions pending settlement  41,446,866,640  52,072,144,854 

Loans to the public sector  19,736,800,859  10,127,381,717 

Receivables from accrued financial products  200,558,816,697  231,178,401,734 

(-) Valuation gains recognition suspended  (7,371,657,027)  (4,042,402,700)

(-) Allowances  (177,913,081,221)  (180,192,370,436)

Total  10,185,782,606,857  10,968,539,379,564 

c.6.2 Performing loans to the nonfinancial sector 

The performing loans portfolio of the nonfinancial sector is comprised as follows:
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According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Central Bank of Paraguay, the 
portfolio of performing loan portfolio to the nonfinancial sector is classified by risk as follows:

As of December 31, 2016

Risks 
Category

Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guaranties 
computable for 
allowances 

Allowances Book balance after 
allowances Minimum % (b) Booked (d)

1  8,636,339,200,156  4,546,203,860,634 0%  -    8,636,339,200,156 

1a  280,509,063,427  142,629,307,131 0,5%  (1,292,625,601)  279,216,437,826 

1b  69,555,863,475  36,339,665,175 1,5%  (770,388,799)  68,785,474,676 

2  959,424,475,830  591,431,155,400 5%  (32,790,098,420)  926,634,377,410 

3  326,756,537,153  175,763,325,463 25%  (58,934,697,747)  267,821,839,406 

4  82,990,861,257  41,122,764,262 50%  (28,642,518,967)  54,348,342,290 

5  6,666,019,982  3,512,717,287 75%  (2,902,372,569)  3,763,647,413 

6  1,453,666,798  584,222,464 100%  (873,636,791)  580,030,007 

Generic allowances (c)  (51,706,742,327)  (51,706,742,327)

Total  10,363,695,688,078  5,537,587,017,816  (177,913,081,221)  10,185,782,606,857 

As of December 31, 2015

Risks 
Category

Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guaranties 
computable for 
allowances 

Allowances Book balance after 
allowances Minimum % (b) Booked (d)

1  9,268,880,621,612  4,644,258,928,264 0%  -    9,268,880,621,612 

1a  593,731,269,823  354,404,064,684 0,5%  (2,792,807,764)  590,938,462,059 

1b  195,160,243,460  124,865,276,100 1,5%  (1,980,207,501)  193,180,035,959 

2  793,844,929,123  467,414,746,003 5%  (27,524,685,508)  766,320,243,615 

3  175,526,251,429  77,474,224,225 25%  (34,403,260,878)  141,122,990,551 

4  104,897,065,478  30,742,464,857 50%  (42,014,862,085)  62,882,203,393 

5  9,969,326,788  5,351,040,714 75%  (4,400,031,278)  5,569,295,510 

6  6,722,042,287  2,228,598,532 100%  (4,568,182,469)  2,153,859,818 

Generic allowances (c)  (62,508,332,953)  (62,508,332,953)

Total  11,148,731,750,000  5,706,739,343,379  (180,192,370,436)  10,968,539,379,564 

References:

(a) Includes capital and interest and forward contracts (net of  unrealized valuation earnings);
(b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of allowances  
      in the loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution of the Central Bank 
     of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments;
(c) Generic allowances established by the Bank in accordance with the requirements of Resolution of the Central 
      Bank of Paraguay N° 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments; and additional 
      generic allowances defined by the Board of Directors of the Entity; and
(d) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have 
     computable guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary debt). 
     For the rest of debtors, the allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees for the second one.

Concept December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Nonperforming loans - Status: past due - nonfinancial sector  24,976,395,234  14,887,318,422 

Nonperforming loans - Status: undergoing proceedings  38,915,541,704  59,779,657,492 

Nonperforming loans - Status: delinquent  130,159,759,037  188,105,760,706 

Nonperforming loans - Status: past due - financial sector  32,238,564,112  1,672,119,884 

Accrued interests  11,319,026,332  13,210,407,955 

(-) Unrealized valuation earnings  (3,891,500,844)  (6,322,268,830)

(-) Allowances  (100,391,975,349)  (158,612,502,451)

Total  133,325,810,226  112,720,493,178 

c.6.3 Nonperforming loans  

The nonperforming loans portfolio is comprised as follows:

According to the valuation standards for credit risks and assets set forth by the Central Bank of Paraguay, the 
portfolio of nonperforming loan is classified by risk as follows:

As of December 31, 2016

Risk Category Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Allowances Book balance after 
allowances

Minimum % (b) Booked (c )

1a  2,364,961  - 0,5%  (11,825)  2,353,136 

1b  1,442,228,762  75,206,584 2%  (46,908,159)  1,395,320,603 

2  9,326,340,352  6,683,520,221 5%  (883,612,949)  8,442,727,403 

3  19,534,904,547  7,462,729,394 25%  (4,353,608,263)  15,181,296,284 

4  74,232,106,153  48,401,935,339 50%  (23,040,464,007)  51,191,642,146 

5  29,509,202,721  10,986,651,050 75%  (15,241,696,382)  14,267,506,339 

6  99,670,638,079  43,206,865,307 100%  (56,825,673,764)  42,844,964,315 

Total  233,717,785,575  116,816,907,895  (100,391,975,349)  133,325,810,226 

As of December 31, 2015

Risk Category Book balance before 
allowances (a)

Guarantees 
computable for 

allowances

Allowances Book balance after 
allowances

Minimum % (b) Booked (c )

1b  1,793,794,991  397,796,393 1,5%  (85,752,480)  1,708,042,511 

2  8,191,652,387  2,029,462,725 5%  (1,270,092,797)  6,921,559,590 

3  24,340,569,421  7,681,838,831 25%  (5,929,025,509)  18,411,543,912 

4  40,634,266,861  16,108,495,359 50%  (15,807,105,206)  24,827,161,655 

5  47,324,983,232  10,604,192,300 75%  (29,577,491,512)  17,747,491,720 

6  149,047,728,737  43,675,375,390 100%  (105,943,034,947)  43,104,693,790 

Total  271,332,995,629  80,497,160,998  (158,612,502,451)  112,720,493,178 

References:

(a) Includes principal and interest and forward contracts (net of  unrealized valuation earnings); 
(b) The percentages of allowances and risk categories defined for classification and constitution of allowances 
      in the loan portfolio, are based on the criteria established for this purpose in Resolution of the Central Bank of 
      Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 60 dated September 28, 2007 and subsequent amendments; and
(c) Allowances are set considering additional risk contingent balances. For those borrowers who do not have 
     computable guarantees, the allowance is calculated on the total risk (including contingent and monetary debt). 
     For the rest of debtors, the allowance is calculated in two phases, computing guarantees only for the second one.
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Item December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Prepaid expenses  2,077,192,281  2,290,241,215 

Deferred changes related bound issuance abroad  13,024,748,659  18,563,658,352 

Prepaid income tax (a)  20,700,868,320  17,371,809,512 

Prepayment of goods and services purchases  4,066,998,759  2,952,456,014 

Lawsuit expenses recoverable  6,002,028,960  3,012,181,548 

Tax credit certificates  17,947,607,772  15,857,636,229 

Value-added tax deductible  2,631,545,004  1,767,745,787 

Uncollected acrued interest  2,511,060,127  1,035,565,868 

Advanced to suppliers  2,183,329,482  1,933,465,668 

Other  1,084,483,360  553,800,841 

Receivables from sale of property  2,747,121,659  1,943,528,784 

Expenses to be recovered  1,997,008,392  1,421,373,403 

Compensation Claimed for losses  -  2,264,694,900 

Valuation gains to be realized  (47,822,000)  - 

Allowances (Note c.7)  (4,337,656,206)  (2,653,420,957)

 Total  72,588,514,569  68,314,737,164 

c.6.4 Other receivables

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are composed as follows:

a)The accrual for income tax liabilities included in the “Accruals” as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 was 
approximately PYG 23,079,517,948 and PYG 18,421,622,748, respectively.

c.7 Allowances for direct and contingent risks

Allowances for loan losses and other assets are determined at the end of each period based on the examination 
to determine the portion of those portfolios that are not recoverable and considering the established, for each type 
of credit risk, laid down in the Resolution of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act. No. 60 dated September 28, 
2007, and its amendments and/or further extensions.

On a regular basis, Bank Management reviews and analyzes the loan portfolio pursuant to credit valuation 
standards established by the Central Bank of Paraguay, so as to adjust the allowances for loan losses. All 
allowances necessary to cover potential losses on direct and contingent risks have been set, pursuant to the criteria 
of Bank Management and the requirements of Central Bank of Paraguay Board of  Directors’ Resolution No. 1, Act. 
No. 60, dated September 28, 2007, and Resolution No. 37, Act. No. 72, dated November 29, 2011.

The movement recorded during the years ended December 31, 2015, and 2014, in the allowance accounts is 
summarized as follows:

As of December 31, 2016

Concept
Balance at 

beginning of the 
year

Additions

Reclassification 
and adjustments 
to allowances for 

the year

Reversal of 
allowances for 

the year

Changes from 
valuation 
in foreing 
currency

Balance at the 
end of the year

Cash and Bank  (2,750,353)  (708,307,265)  -  707,812,785  161,955  (3,082,878)

Perfoarming 
Loans - Financial 
sector

 (902,883,770)  (528,821,448)  6,270  1,311,976,210  40,898,072  (78,824,666)

Perfoarming 
loans - 
Nonfinancial 
sector

 (180,192,370,436)  (412,245,224,022)  5,172,854,821  409,496,730,849  (145,072,433)  (177,913,081,221)

Other receivables  (2,653,420,957)  (1,869,822,327)  -  177,398,658  8,188,420  (4,337,656,206)

Nonperfoarming 
loans  (158,612,502,451)  (451,036,227,822)  248,979,691,161  258,910,467,453  1,366,596,310  (100,391,975,349)

Investments  (8,769,240,392)  (7,308,314,661)  -  5,947,115,069  -  (10,130,439,984)

 Total (351,133,168,359) (873,696,717,545) 254,152,552,252 676,551,501,024 1,270,772,324 (292,855,060,304)

As of December 31, 2015

Concept
Balance at the 

beginning of the 
year

Additions

Reclassification 
and adjustments 

to allowances 
for the year

Reversal of 
allowances for 

the year

Changes from 
valuation 
in foreing 
currency

Balance at the 
end of the year

Cash and Bank  (2,223,073)  (593,546,220)  -  600,486,437  (7,467,497)  (2,750,353)

Performing loans 
- Financial sector  (663,257,870)  (1,943,593,581)  -  1,873,785,904  (169,818,223)  (902,883,770)

Performing loans 
- Nonfinancial 
sector

 (82,322,978,224)  (435,586,365,848)  85,762,065  
353,354,458,875  (15,723,247,304)  (180,192,370,436)

Other receivables  (2,727,641,002)  (1,705,103,357)  662,696,421  1,297,164,489  (180,537,508)  (2,653,420,957)

Nonperforming 
loans  (130,582,961,979)  (231,364,821,729)  63,226,171,937  

145,426,345,613  (5,317,236,293)  (158,612,502,451)

Investments  (10,127,753,563)  (8,769,240,392)  10,064,202,986  300,844,232  (237,293,655)  (8,769,240,392)

 Total (226,426,815,711) (679,962,671,127) 74,038,833,409 502,853,085,550 (21,635,600,480) (351,133,168,359)

c.8 Investments

The investments accounts includes:

Assets received in credit recovery:

These assets are valued at the lowest of the following three values: Appraisal value, allocation value and balance 
of the receivable immediately before allocation, pursuant to the provisions of the Central Bank of Paraguay in 
this regard. Additionally, for assets exceeding the terms established by the Central Bank of Paraguay for their 
possession, allowances are set forth pursuant to the provisions in Resolution No. 1, Act. No. 60 dated September 
28, 2007, issued by the Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Paraguay. After three years of possession, an 
allowance is set for 100% of these assets. 

Private securities: 

Long-term investments in interests in companies, which have been valued at acquisition value as they represent a 
minority interest of the Bank. This value does not exceed their market value, calculated based on the equity method 
value of those investments.
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Other investments:

They are related to works of art that are valued at acquisition cost, which does not exceed their recoverable value.

The investments as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 is comprised as follows:

Description  December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Corporate securities

Investments in securities isuued by private sector Note b.4  8,913,888,872  6,693,888,916 

Permanent investments - subordinated bonds (a)  10,000,000,000  - 

Subtotal   18,913,888,872  6,693,888,916 

Assets acquired in credit recovery

Real estate  225,064,137,166  149,480,777,719 

Movable property  24,868,812,559  -   

Subtotal  249,932,949,725  149,480,777,719 

Other investments  3,748,504  3,774,492 

Investments income in the private sector  535,890,438  -   

Allowances Note c.7  (10,130,439,984)  (8,769,240,392)

Total  259,256,037,555  147,409,200,735 

(a) Subordinated bonds acquired through the stock exchange at the rate of 12% and a five-year term.

(b) During the year, the performance of guarantees has increased over previous years due to the economic 
conjunctures of the agricultural sector mentioned in note c.19 b). The Bank’s Board establishes the policies and 
guidelines for the realization of the assets.

c.9 Property, plant and equipment

The original values of property, plant and equipment and their accumulated depreciations are revalued up to the 
end of each year, pursuant to the change in the Consumer Price Index published by the Central Bank of Paraguay. 
According to this index, accumulated inflation of the years ended at December, 2016, and 2015, was 3,9% and 3,1%, 
respectively. The net increase of the revaluation reserve at the end of each the year is disclosed in the “Revaluation 
reserve” account of the Bank’s shareholders’ equity.

The cost of improvements or additions are recorded as assets, while maintenance and repairs that do not increase 
the value of the assets or their useful life are expensed in the year they occur.

Depreciations are computed as from the month after their addition to the Bank’s assets, through monthly charges 
to the results based on a straight-line basis, in the estimated years of useful life, except for the assets acquired 
in the merger process of Banco ABN AMRO Paraguay S.A., which continue with their original method and are 
computed as from the year after their addition. The residual value of revalued assets, taken as a whole, does not 
exceed the recoverable value thereof as of December 31, 2016, and 2015.

Concept
ORIGINAL VALUE

Balance at the 
beginning of the year Additions Disposals Revaluation Balance at the end of the 

year

Bank Owned:

Real estate - Land  10,218,599,137  -  -  291,483,977  10,510,083,114 

Real estate - Buildings  41,378,708,549  -  -  1,617,143,407  42,995,851,956 

Furniture and office supplies  37,956,438,223  1,431,313,662  (1,165,416,131)  1,246,237,860  39,468,573,614 

Computer hardware  53,384,428,592  4,867,323,162  (200,156,454)  1,133,410,581  59,185,005,881 

Bank safe-deposit boxes  1,992,983,642  -  -  64,143,202  2,057,126,844 

Transport materials  1,983,210,003  3,269,639,397  (3,450,009,708)  54,018,045  1,856,857,737 

Taken leasing:

Computer hardware  2,090,400,327  -  (1,878,368,600)  -  212,031,727 

As of December 31, 2016 149,004,768,473  9,568,276,221   (6,693,950,893) 4,406,437,072  156,285,530,873  

As of December 31, 2015 145,799,108,044  9,821,932,321  (10,292,391,801)  3,676,119,909  149,004,768,473 

Concept

Percentage 
of annual 

depreciation 
%

ACCRUED DEPRECIATION
Net amount at 
the end of the 

year
Balance at the 

beginning of the 
year

Additions Disposals Revaluation Balance at the 
end of the year

Bank owned:

Real estate - Land 0%  -  -  -  -  -  10,510,083,114 

Real estate- Buildings 2,50%  (15,911,229,564)  (1,058,003,920)  -  (622,653,405)  (17,591,886,889)  25,403,965,067 

Furniture and office supplies 10%  (21,031,467,647)  (4,269,993,981)  604,009,451  (602,676,404)  (25,300,128,581)  14,168,445,033 

Computer hardware 25%  (36,699,767,972)  (7,418,208,542)  157,821,206  (478,623,169)  (44,438,778,477)  14,746,227,404 

Bank safe-deposit boxes 10%  (1,364,243,559)  (160,039,359)  -  (35,444,168)  (1,559,727,086)  497,399,758 

Transport materials 20%  (1,614,735,167)  (290,465,447) 1,748,070,857  (28,556,008)  (185,685,765)  1,671,171,972 

Taken leasing:

Computer hardware 25%  (1,494,663,166)  (472,051,985) 1,878,368,600  -  (88,346,551)  123,685,176 

As of December 31, 2016 (78,116,107,075) (13,668,763,234) 4,388,270,114 (1,767,953,154) (89,164,553,349) 67,120,977,524 

As of December 31, 2015 (72,214,025,422) (13,870,672,641) 9,386,101,971 (1,417,510,983) (78,116,107,075) 70,888,661,398 

The composition of Property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2016, and 2015 is as follows:

According to banking legislation, financial institutions operating in Paraguay are forbidden to pledge of PP&E, except 
for those affected to support of financial leasing operations and to the Central Bank of Paraguay.

The banking law sets a limit for investment in PP&E, which is 50% of effective equity. The book value of fixed assets of 
the Bank at December 31, 2016 is within such limit.
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c.10 Deferred charges

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, this account is comprised as follows:

Concept 
Balance at the 

beginning of the 
year

Increases Amortization 
for the year

Balance at the 
end of the year

As of December 31, 2016

Improvements and facilities in leased real estate (*) 6,461,089,632  1,244,423,664  (2,974,827,719) 4,730,685,577  

Office supplies and others  2,301,959,009  3,219,336,411  (3,051,808,817) 2,469,486,603  

Total  8,763,048,641  4,463,760,075  (6,026,636,536)  7,200,172,180 

As of December 31, 2015

Improvements and facilities in leased real estate (*)  9,467,415,650  1,554,150,891  (4,560,476,909) 6,461,089,632  

Office supplies and others  2,274,686,907  3,452,622,296  (3,425,350,194) 2,301,959,009  

Total  11,742,102,557  5,006,773,187  (7,985,827,103)  8,763,048,641 

Autorization resolution 
issued by the Central 
Bank of Paraguay

Issuance 
currency

Issuance 
amount (*) Maturity Amount in 

issuance currency 

Accounting 
balance at 

December 31, 
2016

Accounting 
balance at 

December 31, 
2015

00196/2010  PYG  25,000,000,000  1463 días  25,000,000,000  -  - 

00196/2010  PYG  25,000,000,000  1827 días  25,000,000,000  -  - 

00196/2010  PYG  20,000,000,000  1827 días  20,000,000,000  -  20,000,000,000 

00196/2010  PYG  20,000,000,000  1820 días  20,000,000,000  20,000,000,000  20,000,000,000 

00196/2010  PYG  20,000,000,000  2002 días  20,000,000,000  20,000,000,000  20,000,000,000 

Total PYG  (a)  110,000,000,000  110,000,000,000 

00196/2010  USD  5,000,000.00  1820 días  1,550,000  8,938,741,500  9,000,710,500 

00196/2010  USD  5,000,000.00  2184 días  428,000  2,468,246,040  2,485,357,480 

00027/2016  USD  10,000,000.00  2184 días  10,000,000  57,669,300,000  - 

00027/2016  USD  8,630,000.00  2184 días  8,630,000  49,768,605,900  - 

Total USD  (b)  28,630,000.00  20,608,000 

PYG equivalent total 158,844,893,440  71,486,067,980 

(*) The Bank amortizes improvements and facilities in leased real property on a straight-line basis considering a 
useful life of 5 years.

c.11 Bonds, debentures and bonds in circulation

a) Issued in local market

The chapter “Bonds, debentures and bonds issued into circulation” included in the items “Liabilities from financial 
transactions - not financial sector” of the balance sheet include subordinated bonds whose balance and detail of 
emissions to December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

(a) The Central Bank of Paraguay has authorized, and the Bank has issued subordinated bonds in foreign currency 
up to an amount of USD 10,000,000, and in local currency up to an amount of PYG 110,000,000,000 according to 
Resolution SB. SG. N° 00196/2010.

(b) Through Resolution SB. SG. N° 00027/2016, the Central Bank of Paraguay has authorized and the Bank has 
issued subordinated bond in foreign currency up to an amount of USD 18.630.000. In the resolution, The Central 
Bank of Paraguay also authorized the issue of subordinated bonds in local currency up to an amount of PYG 
50.000.000.000. At the end of the year, the Bank has not performed the issue of bonds in local currency.

Subordinated bonds will be convertible into shares, in the event the Bank needs to cover the minimum capital 
requirements set forth by law or to replace capital losses (Law 861/96). The subordinated bonds do not have the 
deposit guarantee protection provided in Law No. 2334/03.

b) Bonds issued abroad

The Extraordinary General Meeting Nº 39 dated April 26, 2013 approved the issue of bonds abroad for up to USD 
300.000.000. On January 16, 2014, the Bank issued bonds for an amount of USD 300 million. The titles were listed in 
Luxembourg and have a term of five years and an interest rate of 8.125% per annum (interest payable semiannually).

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the capital was included in the chapter of “Outstanding Bonds”, in the items 
“Bonds issued abroad - Financial Sector” for an amount of PYG 1.730.079.000.000 and PYG 1.742.073.000.000, 
respectively.

 Additionally, the Bank is committed to comply with certain positive and negative covenants according to the offering 
memorandum, which are monitored by the Board and management of the Bank. As of December 31, 2016, there 
were no breaches of these clauses.  

c.12 Limitations on available Assets or Equity and any other restrictions on property rights.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the following restrictions are over Assets and Equity:

a) Minimum and special cash requirement

The Central Bank of Paraguay account as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, includes PYG 1.343.779.569.704 and PYG 
1.437.540.879.361, respectively, wich are restricted accounts held by the Bank as the minimum and special cash 
requirement. (See note c.3) 

b) Government Securities

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance in “Government and Private Securities” included Paraguayan 
Treasury Bonds for a total of PYG 2.498.143.073 and PYG 39.650.418.934 respectively, which grants Repo transactions 
(See note c.4).

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank has given Paraguayan treasury bonds for a total of PYG 
15.070.361.325 and Monetary Regulations Instruments for a total of PYG 13.934.411.578, respectively, as guarantees 
required by the Central Bank of Paraguay, under general regulations of the SIPAP. (See note c.4)

c) Legal reserve

According to Articule 27 of Law 861/96, financial institutions must have a reserve of not less than the equivalent of 
one hundred percent (100%) of its capital, which will be transferred annually not less than twenty percent (20%) of net 
profits of each financial year.

Also Article 28 of the Law 861/96 sets that the legal reserve resources are automatically applied to cover losses in the 
financial year. In the following years, the total profits must be allocated to the legal reserve until the minimum amount 
thereof, or the highest that has been obtained in the process of its formation is reached again.

At any time, the amount of the reserve could be further increased with cash contributions.

d) Indexation of capital stock:

According to Article 11 of the Law 861/96, financial institutions must update their capital annually according to 
Consume Prince Index (IPC) calculated by the Central Bank of Paraguay. The present value of the minimum capital 



Report and Financial Statements 2016 • We believe in you Report and Financial Statements 2016  • We believe in you

120 121

requirement of the year 2016 and 2015 is PYG 46.552.000.000 and PYG 43.296.000.000, respectively, according to 
Circular SB. SG. No. 006/2016 and Circular SB. SG. No. 001/2015 respectively.
 
The integrated capital (common and preferred shares) of the Bank as of December 31, 206 and 2015, is PYG 
908.028.700.000 and PYG 784.946.400.000 respectively; (See note b.5), which exceeds the minimum capital 
requirement. 

e) Distribution of earnings:

According to provisions of Law No. 861/96 “General Law on Banks, Financial and Other Credit Institutions”, 
financial institutions can distribute their earnings after the approval of their audited annual financial statements 
by the Banks Regulatory Authority, provided it grants its approval within a period of one hundred and twenty days 
after year-end. After this term has elapsed without any findings by the Banks Regulatory Authority, earnings can be 
distributed.

The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 29, 2016 approved the distribution of earnings of 2015 fiscal year 
as follows:

Item Currency Amounts 

Booking of legal reserve  PYG  45,975,151,811 

Capitalization of earnings  PYG  123,082,300,000 

Cash dividends - preferred shares  PYG  40,000,000,000 

Cash dividends - common shares  PYG  2,396,684,495 

Total  211,454,136,306 

f) Preferred share dividends
 
According with the original terms of the issuance of preferred shares, the shareholders will grant them a preferred 
dividend of 18% of the net profits for the year. The rate of preference dividend was reviewed by the Ordinary 
Shareholders Meeting in the fifth year of the issuance (2013), enhancing the assembly to modify this percentage 
for the following five years, according to market conditions, with a minimum of at least 6 points above the average 
inflation of the previous 10 years. Elapsed the first 10 years, and in subsequent meetings every five years, the 
respective meetings must establish new conditions for the following periods of five years.

The Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting held on October 18, 2013 resolved to set the preferred dividend rate of 
16% for the following five years (2014 to 2018).

g) Additional income tax for dividend distribution:

According to the provisions of Law 125/91, as amended by Law 2421/04, the distribution of cash earnings are taxed 
at the rate of 5%. The Entity records the additional charge of income tax in the year in which the Shareholders 
decides the distribution.

Moreover, according to the tax regime established by those laws, profits remitted to foreign shareholders are 
subject to a withholding tax of 15% for income tax.

h) Guarantees given in favor of Bancard S.A.:

As of December 31, 2016, the Bank has provided Bancard S.A. portfolio of credit card affinity Classical Mastercard 
up to the total of PYG 17.579.935.763 which guarantee the operations that result from the transactions of users in 
ATMs or points of sale (POS’s) of the Infonet Network, as well as the obligations that may arise as a result of the 
operations of credit cards of the MasterCard, VISA and Bancard Check brands.

As of December 31, 2015, the Bank granted in favor of Bancard S.A. a stand by guarantee in the amount of USD 
2.265.000, issued by the Rabobank Netherland to guarantee the balances resulting  from user transactions at 
automatic teller machines (ATMs) or points of sale (POS) of the Infonet network, as well as obligations that may 
arise from MasterCard, VISA and BancardCheck credit card transactions.

c.13 Guarantees granted with respect to liabilities

As of December 31, 2016, the loans borrowed from GOVCO LLC, under an agreement with Citibank N.A. New York, 
and secured by Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), with a balance of USD 10.065.792 are guaranteed 
through customer promissory notes for a total value of USD 18.473.335.

As of December 31, 2015, the loans borrowed from GOVCO LLC, under and agreement with Citibank N.A. New York, 
and secured by Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC), with a balance of USD 33.750.000 are guaranteed 
through customer promissory notes for a total value of USD 36.637.170.

Aditionally, the Bank is committed to comply certain financial, positive and negative covenants according to the 
contracts and agreements with multilateral credit institutions, and according to the offering memorandum, which 
are monitored by the Board and Management of the Bank. As of December 31, 2016 the financial covenants that 
are out of range have the approved waivers of the borrowers that support the validity of the terms originally agreed 
upon by said operations.
 
There are no other limitations to the free disposal of assets or equity nor other restrictions on property rights.

c.14 Distribution of performing loans and financial liabilities according to their maturity dates

Below are the placements and deposits as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, classified according to remaining 
maturity:

The balances includes interest accrued, forward contracts/repo and loan before allowances.

As of December 31, 2016

Item
Terms remaining to maturity

Up to 30 days From to 31 days 
up to 180 days

From 181 days up 
to 1 year

Over 1 year up to 
3 years Over 3 years Total

Performing loans financial 
sector 149,156,853,714 304,183,353,177 45,667,649,362 41,443,897,081 46,478,466,283 586,930,219,617

Performing loans 
nonfinancial sector 1,126,201,935,403 3,708,522,541,525 1,248,274,199,545 1,880,014,854,857 2,400,682,156,748 10,363,695,688,078

Total Performing loans 1,275,358,789,117 4,012,705,894,702 1,293,941,848,907 1,921,458,751,938 2,447,160,623,031 10,950,625,907,695

Obligations financial sector 486,117,421,888 192,766,000,952 341,677,865,278 2,240,354,862,222 405,850,876,237 3,666,767,026,577

Obligations nonfinancial 
sector 4,905,341,358,757 1,436,972,393,807 1,508,106,342,038 1,646,909,473,178 342,059,688,771 9,839,389,256,551

Total Obligations 5,391,458,780,645 1,629,738,394,759 1,849,784,207,316 3,887,264,335,400 747,910,565,008 13,506,156,283,128
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As of December 31, 2015

Item
Terms remaining to maturity

Up to 30 days From 31 days up to 
180 days

From 181 days up 
to 1 year

Over 1 year up to 
3 years Over 3 years Total

Performing loans financial 
sector 206,404,015,341 262,121,949,633 21,987,762,358 46,044,030,419 45,089,074,147 581,646,831,898 

Performing loans 
nonfinancial sector 1,251,437,190,869 4,101,475,063,248 1,656,504,016,087 1,902,279,611,256 2,237,035,868,540 11,148,731,750,000 

Total Performing loans  1,457,841,206,210 4,363,597,012,881 1,678,491,778,445 1,948,323,641,675 2,282,124,942,687 11,730,378,581,898 

Liabilities financial sector 476,058,099,722 235,406,965,280 359,297,835,266 534,366,496,407 2,337,074,286,889 3,942,203,683,564 

Liabilities nonfinancial sector 5,079,502,010,136 1,521,855,236,717 1,265,405,479,542 1,686,311,912,633 482,936,901,926 10,036,011,540,954 

Total Obligations 5,555,560,109,858 1,757,262,201,997 1,624,703,314,808 2,220,678,409,040 2,820,011,188,815 13,978,215,224,518 

Liquidity risk management: 

Liquidity risk, is the risk that a bank may encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations related to financial 
commitments that are settled with a delivery of cash or other financial asset. The Bank`s Board of Directors and 
Management control its liquidity mainly by matching the maturities of its assets and liabilities, pursuant to the short, 
medium and long term strategies in place and monitored on ongoing basis, for both assets and liabilities.

Additionally, the Bank has defined contingency plans for situations requiring temporary liquidity. The liquidity position 
is monitored and the liquidity stress tests are conducted on a regular basis in a variety of different scenarios that cover 
both normal market conditions and more severe ones. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to the review 
and approval of the Assets and liabilities Committee and Board of Directors.

Number of customers

Amount and percentage of the Financial Sector loan 
portfolio

Amount and percentage of the Nonfinancial Sector loan 
portfolio

Performing 
PYG (*) % Nonperforming

PYG (*) % Performing PYG (*) % Nonperforming
PYG (*) %

 As of December 31, 2016 

 10 largest borrowers 354,790,372,520 60%  33,847,114,520 100%  924,181,085,312 9% 107,016,825,476 54%

 50 next largest borrowers 232,139,847,097 40%  -   0%  2,341,185,210,406 23%  65,510,071,367 33%

 100 next largest borrowers  -   0%  -   0%  1,900,673,594,802 18%  16,968,964,218 8%

 Other largest borrowers  -   0%  -   0%  5,197,655,797,558 50%  10,374,809,994 5%

 Total  586,930,219,617 100% 33,847,114,520 100% 10,363,695,688,078 100%  199,870,671,055 100% 

 As of December 31, 2015

 10 largest borrowers  440,149,527,536 76%  1,672,119,884 100%  925,482,119,330 8%  119,630,742,840 44%

 50 next largest borrowers  141,497,304,362 24%  -   0%  2,403,465,114,116 22%  83,981,402,617 31%

 100 next largest borrowers  -   0%  -   0%  1,923,727,374,511 17%  42,892,184,080 16%

 Other largest borrowers  -   0%  -   0%  5,896,057,142,043 53%  23,156,546,208 9%

 Total  581,646,831,898 100%  1,672,119,884 100% 11,148,731,750,000 100%  269,660,875,745 100% 

c.15.1 Concentration of the portfolio by numbers of costumers

The concentration of portfolio held by the Bank as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, with the financial 
sector (SF) and nonfinancial (SNF), is exposed both in its portfolio of performing loans and nonperforming loans as 
on its obligations intermediation financial.

a) Loans portfolio

(*) Includes interest, unrealized valuation earnings and forward contracts/repo, before allowances

Number of customers

Amount and percentage of deposit portfolio

Financial Sector
%

Nonfinancial Sector

Private Sector
%

Public sector
%

PYG PYG PYG

As of December 31, 2016

10 largest depositors  298,042,137,737 59%  721,712,324,614 9%  1,288,633,682,719 97%

50 next largest depositors  175,662,745,710 35%  1,225,330,740,468 15%  33,410,178,382 3%

100 next largest depositors  27,927,731,960 6%  1,053,082,278,322 13%  - 0%

Other depositors  - 0%  5,192,501,196,112 63%  - 0%

TOTAL 501,632,615,407 100% 8,192,626,539,516 100% 1,322,043,861,101 100%

As of December 31, 2015

10 largest depositors  265,783,295,502 59%  743,003,409,401 9%  1,391,066,870,883 98%

50 next largest depositors  165,362,265,198 37%  1,270,504,895,906 15%  26,398,549,518 2%

100 next largest depositors  16,958,088,792 4%  1,018,761,607,701 12%  - 0%

Other depositors  - 0%  5,313,880,925,958 64%  - 0%

TOTAL 448,103,649,492 100% 8,346,150,838,966 100% 1,417,465,420,401 100%

(*)  Include amounts of current account and time deposits, without accrued interests at the end of the year.

b) Deposits portfolio

Item Loans to Financial Sector PYG (*) % Loans to Nonfinancial Sector PYG (*) %

As of December 31, 2016

Residents in Paraguay  586,930,219,617 100%  10,363,695,688,078 100%

Nonresidents in Paraguay  -   0%  -   0%

Sub-Total  586,930,219,617 100%  10,363,695,688,078 100%

Allowances  (78,824,666)  (177,913,081,221)

TOTAL 586,851,394,951 10,185,782,606,857

In Local Currency  321,919,077,128 55%  3,324,960,250,666 32%

In Foreing Currency  265,011,142,489 45%  7,038,735,437,412 68%

Sub-Total  586,930,219,617 100%  10,363,695,688,078 100%

Allowances  (78,824,666)  (177,913,081,221)

TOTAL 586,851,394,951 10,185,782,606,857

As of December 31, 2015

Residents in Paraguay  581,646,831,898 100%  11,148,731,750,000 100%

Nonresidents in Paraguay  -   0%  -   0%

Sub-Total  581,646,831,898 100%  11,148,731,750,000 100%

Allowances  (902,883,770)  (180,192,370,436)

TOTAL 580,743,948,128 10,968,539,379,564

In local currency  287,865,023,978 49%  3,600,859,516,108 32%

In foreing currency  293,781,807,920 51%  7,547,872,233,892 68%

Sub-Total  581,646,831,898 100%  11,148,731,750,000 100%

Allowances  (902,883,770)  (180,192,370,436)

TOTAL 580,743,948,128 10,968,539,379,564

c.15.2 Concentration by geographic area and currency

a) Loans portfolio

(*) Include accrued interest, unrealized valuation earnings and forward contracts/repo, before allowances.
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As of December 31, 2016

Item Financial Sector PYG % Nonfinancial Sector PYG %

Residents in Paraguay 996,807,750,496 29% 9,573,929,270,398 98%

Nonresidents in Paraguay 2,474,744,780,707 71%  147,187,267,083 2%

Sub-Total (*)  3,471,552,531,203 100%  9,721,116,537,481 100%

Other liabilities(**)  195,214,495,374  118,272,719,070 

TOTAL  3,666,767,026,577  9,839,389,256,551 

In local currency 424,037,980,556 12% 3,959,526,290,276 41%

In foreing currency 3,047,514,550,647 88% 5,761,590,247,205 59%

Sub-Total (*)  3,471,552,531,203 100%  9,721,116,537,481 100%

Other liabilities(**)  195,214,495,374  118,272,719,070 

TOTAL  3,666,767,026,577  9,839,389,256,551 

b) Liabilities

As of December 31, 2015

Item Financial Sector PYG % Nonfinancial Sector PYG %

Residents in Paraguay  936,944,067,430 24%  9,771,506,470,219 99%

Nonresidents in Paraguay  2,906,232,393,069 76%  116,138,200,000 1%

Sub-Total (*)  3,843,176,460,499 100%  9,887,644,670,219 100%

Other Liabilities (**)  99,027,223,065  148,366,870,735 

TOTAL  3,942,203,683,564  10,036,011,540,954 

In local currency  478,711,819,864 12%  3,861,643,728,230 39%

In foreing currency  3,364,464,640,635 88%  6,026,000,941,989 61%

Sub-Total (*)  3,843,176,460,499 100%  9,887,644,670,219 100%

Other Liabilities (**)  99,027,223,065  148,366,870,735 

TOTAL  3,942,203,683,564  10,036,011,540,954 

(*) Include amounts of demand deposits and time deposits without interest accrued to the closing date, direct loans 
from financial institutions, bonds outstanding and deferred documentary credits.
(**) Other liabilities include accrued interest not considered deposits and ATM transactions pending transactions to 
be settled.

c.15.3 Loan portfolio nonfinancial sector distributed by economic sector  

Economic Sector

Loans to nonfinancial sector (*)

As of December 31, 2016 As of December 31, 2015

 PYG %  PYG %

Agriculture  4,463,524,317,711 43%  4,631,966,475,482 42% 

Livestock activities  797,190,143,057 8%  789,248,881,706 7% 

Industry  923,167,263,131 9%  1,191,268,621,178 11% 

Retail trade  1,183,898,645,674 11%  935,540,298,030 8% 

Wholesale business  776,596,721,727 7%  1,305,331,504,545 12% 

Services  970,089,268,388 9%  994,744,637,649 9% 

Consumer  412,365,264,739 4%  420,759,333,907 4% 

Export  623,843,705,492 6%  662,496,217,256 6% 

Consumption - housing  159,781,413,157 2%  158,245,877,909 1% 

Government sector  19,781,400,144 0%  10,481,969,028 0% 

Others  33,457,544,858 0%  48,647,933,310 0% 

Total  10,363,695,688,078 100%  11,148,731,750,000 100% 

(*) Includes interest income, unrealized valuations earnings and fordward contracts/repo, before allowances.

c.16 Credits and contingencies involving related parties

The balances with related parties each year end are as follows:

As of December 31, 2016

Item Book balance before 
allowances (*) Allowances Book balance net of 

allowances

Assets

Deposits in Financial Entities  1,837,979,621  -  1,837,979,621 

Performing loans (a)  200,408,269,296  -  200,408,269,296 

Credit-related contingencies  4,463,889,831  -  4,463,889,831 

Total  206,710,138,748  -  206,710,138,748 

Liabilities

Deposits  44,502,378,031  -  44,502,378,031 

Total  44,502,378,031  -  44,502,378,031 

As of December 31, 2015

Item Book balance before 
allowances (b) Allowances Book balance net of 

allowances

Assets

Deposits of Financial Entities 69,959,568,762  -  69,959,568,762 

Performing loans (a)  191,036,378,547  (178,943,698)  190,857,434,849 

Credit-related contingencies  3,663,307,044  -  3,663,307,044 

Total  264,659,254,353  (178,943,698)  264,480,310,655 

Liabilities

Deposits  37,880,423,100  -  37,880,423,100 

Total  37,880,423,100  -  37,880,423,100 

(a) The performing credits do not include accrued interest.
(b) Law 861/96 establishes limits for lending to related parties, which may not exceed an amount equivalent to 20% 
of the effective equity of the Bank.

c.17 Other liabilities

This account as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

Item December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Taxes payables  11,985,989,298  11,487,015,226 

Social security payables  1,078,608,556  682,943,205 

Dividends payable  188,490,857  105,967,042 

Financial lease payables  124,382,876  852,249,056 

Accounts payable  1,768,555,015  2,109,790,769 

Cashier's check issued  20,029,724,223  26,583,502,254 

Other liabilities  4,006,997,980  1,881,153,450 

Total  39,182,748,805  43,702,621.002 
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c.18 Transactions to be settled

This chapter records the balance of the following transactions:

a) Forward Operations
Contracts are compulsory exchange of currencies in the future at a rate previously agreed between the parties 
(Foreing currency forwards) that are initially recognized at fair value conclusion. Thereafter, any change in 
that amount is credited to income, valuing at nominal value converted at spot prices start; and all contracts 
denominated in foreign currency are updated at the spot rate on each closing date of the financial statements.

b) Repo Operations
A repo operation occurs when the Bank acquires or transfers securities in exchange for the delivery of an amount 
of cash, assuming in the act a time commitment to transfer or acquire back the property of such securities to its 
“counterpart” values of the same species and Features the same day or at a later date at a specified price.

Under regulations of the Central Bank of Paraguay repo transactions are recorded as part of “Transactions to be 
settled” in the chapter Performing loans and financial liabilities.

The amounts recorded in the interbank liquidity (Operations VLI) - Offer transactions are comprised of the 
amounts granted to BCP plus the agreed premiums. Also, the VLI - Demand Transactions refer to the irrevocable 
commitment to sell securities obtained by virtue of the transaction, which are in custody in BCP, at the nominal 
value of the securities to be transferred.

FINANCIAL SECTOR

a) Repo Operations

Through VLI December 31, 2016 December 31, 2016

Debtors for future sale of purchased securities  100,398,567,489  -   

Creditors for future sale of securities  (107,497,360,949)  (5)

b) Forward Operations

Forward purchases of foreing currency - Financial Sector December 31, 2016 December 31, 2016

Receivables from foreign currency forward transactions  6,037,688,301 -

Creditors for foreign currency forward transactions  (6,025,000,000) -

Total Forward contracts - Assets  106,436,255,790  -   

Total Forward contracts - Liabilities  (113,522,360,949)  (5)

a) Repo Operations

Forward purchases of securities sold - Nonfinancial Sector: December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Debtors for future sales transactions of sold securities  -    39,650,418,934 

Creditors for future purchase transactions of sold securities  -    (39,650,418,934)

NONFINANCIAL SECTOR

Serie Issue currency Issue amount Date of issue Due Date Expiry date

1 US$ 10,000,000 25/4/2016 24/4/2023 2555 días

2 US$ 8,630,000 26/5/2016 25/5/2023 2555 días

Total 18,630,000

b) Forward Operations

Forward sales of foreing currency - Nonfinancial Sector December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Receivables from sales transactions forward foreing currency  37,967,000,000  9,808,616,420 

Creditors for operations through forward foreing currency  (37,905,864,055)  (10,323,557,948)

Forward purchases of foreing currency - Nonfinancial Sector December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Debtors for purchase transactions forward foreing currency  3,479,866,640  2,613,109,500 

Creditors for purchase transactions forward foreing currency  (3,420,450,000)  (2,585,250,000)

Total Forward contracts - Assets  41,446,866,640  52,072,144,854 

Total Forward contracts - Liabilities  (41,326,314,055)  (52,559,226,882)

c.19 Relevant information for the year

a) Issued subordinated bonds:

Given the need to strengthen the Bank’s effective assets and as a result of the constant and gradual increase in 
assets, on April 26, 2013, the Extraordinary General Assembly granted the Board the authority to issue subordinated 
bonds in Paraguayan Guaranies and USD, up to a Maximum equivalent to PYG 150,000,000,000.

The Board of Directors approve, in Acts No. 008/2015 dated August 18, 2015 and No. 010/2015 dated November 25, 
2015, the issue of subordinated bonds under the schedules of the Global Issuance denominated G2 and USD2, by 
PYG 50,000,000,000 and USD 18,630,000 respectively.

According the resolution SB. SG. No. 00027/2016 of February 26, 2016, the Superintendence of Banks has 
authorized the issuance of Subordinated Bonds in local and foreign currency up to a maximum equivalent amount 
of PYG 150,000,000,000.

Below the emission, data are displayed:

With respect to subordinated bonds in Guaranies, as of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Bank 
has not yet offered in the market.
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b) Agricultural Sector Situation:

During the years 2014 and 2015 the international prices of cereals have suffered a significant decrease that 
has affected the agricultural producers of the region and that could extend to the whole chain production and 
commercialization of these products. The fall in the price of commodities had a direct and indirect impact on the 
income of a large number of national producers and collectors, generating during the current year an increase in 
arrears throughout the system and, consequently, in the allowances. The measures taken by the Bank, since mid-
2015, have made it possible to correct the situation and mitigate the impact, with the year closed with a controlled 
level of arrears. The increase in expenditure on allowances confirms that the Bank have the ability to successfully 
cope with a slowdown economic cycle, and even maintain positive growth rates in the portfolio and profits. Some of 
these measures have been based on refinancing or restructurings of the portfolio, and constitution of generic and 
specific allowances, application of guarantees and adjudication of guarantees in certain cases.

c) Bank Law:

On December 19, 2016, the Executive Power put in force Law No. 5.787/16. This Law modifies several articles 
of the Law 861/96 of Banks, Financial and Other Credit Entities. The new Law in force allows greater powers to 
the Central Bank of Paraguay to provide, through resolutions, modifications on the required minimum capital, 
calculation of the effective equity and risk weights, among others. 

It also applies greater requirements in the provision of information on shareholders, regardless of the percentage of 
participation in regulated entities, and communication on change in the directive board of the regulated entity. The 
financial entities operating in Paraguay must comply with the new regulatory environment insofar as the Central 
Bank of Paraguay issues the regulations of the Law.

D. EQUITY

d.1. Effective equity

The effective equity is used for determining limits and operational restrictions established by the Superintendence 
of Banks of the Central Bank of Paraguay, for financial entities operating in Paraguay.

The Bank’s effective equity as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, is PYG 1.438.346.000.000 and PYG 1.216.216.000.000, 
respectively.

According to the Resolution of the Board of the Central Bank of Paraguay No. 1, Act No. 44 dated July 21, 2011, as 
amended by Resolution No. 3, Act No. 4 dated February 2, 2012, the minimum percentage of effective equity should 
keep financial institutions of the country is a) Tier 1 - Main Capital 8%, b) Tier 2 - Main Capital plus supplementary 
capital of l2%.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank effective equity is as follows:

Item December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Tier 1 - Main capital 13.82% 11.00%

Tier 2 - Main capital + Supplementary capital 17.32% 13.19%

 

Items December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Guarantees provided 159,046,344,789 251,625,073,334

Documentary letters of credit to be negotiated 111,178,079,997 93,741,887,387

Lines of credit to be used in current accounts 237,293,592,305 298,239,194,286

Lines of credit to be used through credit cards 269,762,375,368 292,700,540,559

Total 777,280,392,459 936,306,695,566

Items December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Guarantees received 11,553,384,907,068 12,491,342,528,948

Administration of securities and deposits 1,206,112,236,436 832,317,995,926

Documentary collection 44,308,599,872 66,368,863,455

Sale and transfer of portfolio 375,309,639,817 132,499,816,526

Other memorandum accounts 558,167,173,426 694,739,443,747

Total  13,737,282,556,619  14,217,268,648,602 

d.2. Minimum Capital

The minimum capital indexed for inflation in 2016, according to Central Bank of Paraguay provisions on this matter, 
is mandatory for banks operating in the Paraguayan financial system to hold as paid in capital at least an amount of 
PYG 46.552.000.000 as of December 31, 2016 and PYG 43.296.000.000 as of December 31, 2015. The eventual deficit 
of capital with regard to the minimum capital required annually must be canceled prior to the end of the first six 
months of each year.

As of December 31, 2016, and 2015, the Bank had a paid in capital in common and preferred shares of PYG 
908.028.700.000 and PYG 784.946.400.000, respectively, which exceeded the minimum amount required by Central 
Bank of Paraguay regulations as of such dates.

d.3.  Prior year adjustments

The Plan and Manual of Accounts of Central Bank of Paraguay sets that prior year’s adjustments must be record in 
the income statement. At December 31, 2016, the net prior year adjustment is a profit of PYG. 527.424.229 included 
in the chapter “Prior year adjustments” (at December 31, 2015 loss of PYG. 410.274.552).

E. CONCERNING THE CONTINGENCIES AND MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS

a) Contingency accounts 

The balance of contingency accounts as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 corresponds to credit lines approved to 
debtors for credit card transactions, loans granted in current accounts, and other approved credit lines pending of 
utilization. These credit lines as a whole do not exceed 10% of total assets.

The Bank has recorded in contingency accounts the following balances related to commitments or responsibilities:

b) Memorandum accounts

The accounts are comprised as follows:
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F. INFORMATION REGARDING INCOME STATEMENT

f.1 Recognition of income and loss

The Bank applied the accrual method in recognizing income and allocating expenses and costs incurred, with 
the following exceptions referred to the fact that income is recognized as profit upon collection, as set forth 
by Resolution No. 1, Record No. 60 issued by the Central Bank of Paraguay on September 28, 2007, and its 
subsequent amendments and additions:

a) Interest accrued and not collected from borrowers with nonperforming loans and unrealized valuation 
earnings;

b) Interest accrued and not collected related to borrowers and credits classified in categories 2 (not by subjective 
criteria), 3, 4, 5 and 6. Which are recognized as profit upon collection.

c) Unrealized valuation earnings of performing and nonperforming loans in foreign currency, which are classified 
in categories 2 (not by subjective criteria), 3, 4, 5 and 6.  Which are recognized as profit upon collection.

d) Deferred income from sale of assets in installments, which are recognized as revenue when the loans are 
collected;

e) Unrealized valuation earnings from sale of assets in installments.
 
 f)  Certain fees for banking services.

f.2 Foreing Exchange difference

Foreign exchange differences related to assets and liabilities in foreign currency are shown as net amounts in the 
“Valuation of assets and liabilities in foreign currency” line of the statement of income, and their breakdown is as 
follows:

 Item December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

Income from valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreing currency  5,976,102,393,434  7,155,436,897,318 

Loss from valuation of financial assets and liabilities in foreing currency  (5,982,893,420,901)  (7,157,844,936,545)

Net foreing exchange differences on financial assets and liabilities in foreing 
currency  (6,791,027,467)  (2,408,039,227)

Income from valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreing currency  25,061,501,228  25,975,939,282 

loss from valuation of other assets and liabilities in foreing currency  (21,984,879,127)  (40,409,267,946)

Net foreing exchange differences on other assets and liabilities in foreing 
currency  3,076,622,101  (14,433,328,664)

Net foreing exchange differences on total assets and liabilities in foreing 
currency  (3,714,405,366)  (16,841,367,891)

As described in point (c) of note f.1 above, the foreign exchange differences related to loans in foreign currency that 
are nonperforming and/or performing and classified in categories “3”, “4”, “5” and “6”, are recognized as income 
when they are collected.

The net foreign exchange differences from foreign exchange and arbitrage transactions are disclosed in the lines of 
the statement of income called “Other operating income - Gains for exchange and arbitrage operations”. 

f.3 Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund (FGD)

Under the provisions of Law No. 2334 dated December 12, 2003, financial institutions provide mandatory funds to 
the FGD administered by the Central Bank of Paraguay an amount equivalent to the 0.12% of the quarterly average 
balances of its portfolio of deposits in local and foreign currency, on a quarterly basis.

The amount contributed by the company to FGD for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to 
PYG 49,347,928,520 and PYG 48,186,020,911, respectively. The amounts contributed by the Bank to the DGF, are 
not recoverable and are included in the line “General Expenses” of the chapter “Other operating expenses” of the 
Statement of Income.

f.4 Income tax

Income tax which is charged to the results for the year at a rate of 10% is based on book income before tax, adjusted 
by the items that the law and its regulations include or exclude for the determination of net taxable income.

The income tax charger to results of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, amounts to total PYG 
23,079,517,948 and PYG 18,421,622,748, respectively. This amount does not include the accrual of the additional 
5% rate related to the distribution of earnings mentioned in note c.12.g). The Bank books this additional income 
tax charge in the year in which the Shareholders’ Meeting decides the distribution. The charge is recorded in the 
chapter “Other operating expenses” of the Statement of Income.

f.5 Recognition of the effects of inflation

No adjustment for inflation procedures have been applied, except as mentioned in note c.9.

G. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no events that took place after December 31, 2016, that involved significant changes in equity and results 
of the Bank for the year ended as of such date.

Encarnación, February 23, 2017

 Francisco Furman S.
General Accountant

Roland Wolf
Syndic

Eugenio Oze de Morvil
General Manager

Raúl Vera Bogado
President
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4.4 OPINIONS AND RISK RATING

4.4.1. INDEPENDIENT AUDITOR`S REPORT
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4.4.3. RISK RATING

 International Agencies Credit Watch

MOODY’S - Foreign Currency LT  Ba2/Not Prime Stable

MOODY’S - Local Currency LT Ba1/Not Prime Stable

S&P Global - Foreign Currency LT BB- Stable

S&P Global - Local Currency LT BB- Stable

Local Agencies

Feller Rate  Aapy  Estable

8 de febrero de 2017

S&P Global Ratings sube calificación de Banco Regional S.A.E.C.A a 'BB' desde 'BB-'; la perspectiva es negativa

4.4.2. TRUSTEE’S OPINION
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Maria Luisa Rossi, Jefa de Marketing.
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Alan R. Hermosilla Fleitas, 
Gerente de Sucursal – Banca Privada.
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PROYECTARSE. Gabinete de Responsabilidad 
Social y Comunicación Organizacional.
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Estudio Madre
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